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Society Highlights: 2016


‘Leading Co-operative of the Year’ – the second time we’ve won this award



Great progress in the Society's Corporate Responsibility CR index score – up to 4½ stars
from 2½ stars in 2015



Making a difference that’s worth millions – market leading research into our positive
impact on local communities highlighted we generate a Social Return on Investment of
£20.50 for every £1 invested by the Society



Over 150 defibrillators installed at Central England food store and funeral home
locations, funded by the 5p carrier bag levy



Maintained strong levels of customer satisfaction and employee engagement



Further roll-out of lower prices across our fresh food ranges for our members and
customers



Continuation of change improvement programmes across the business to ensure the
Society has the flexibility to adapt to an ever-changing and competitive trading
environment



Further progress implemented to strengthen the Board's governance processes and
effectiveness, including Director appraisals and a series of training and development
events



Over £1.3 million raised for Newlife Foundation for Disabled Children, our colleague
elected corporate charity, since the partnership began in 2012 – and on track to reach
our target of £1.5 million in 2017

Financial Highlights


Resilient financial performance against a backdrop of food price deflation and highly
competitive trading conditions



Gross sales (excluding VAT) from ongoing businesses of £843.5 million were broadly in
line with the prior year on a 52 week basis but up 1.5% on the presentation basis in the
accounts (which includes a 53 week year in the current reporting period) despite
deflationary pressure in the food market.



Strong sales in our convenience store estate, consistent with our long-term growth
strategy



Trading profit of £20.0m (53 weeks), ahead of expectations, and only marginally lower
than the prior year (52 weeks 2015/16: £20.8m)



Operating profit of £11.3m, down £8.5m (2015/16: £19.8m), largely reflecting the prior
year benefitting from an increase in the investment property valuation compared to a
small decrease in the current year



Highest ever capital investment of £45.6m (2015/16: £29.5m)



Continuation of our ambitious growth strategy with 9 new food stores opened, 4 new
funeral homes and significant refurbishment activity across the business



Net debt of £11.5m (2015/16: £8.4m) – well within our funding facility



Further good progress on rebalancing the Society's investment property estate, with a
number of planned disposals and acquisitions completed during the year



Payments to and behalf of stakeholders of £4.2m (2015/16: £4.7m), continuing our
commitment to share the Society’s success with our members, colleagues and local
communities
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Reduction in net assets to £167.2m (2015/16: £222.2m), principally reflecting an
increase in the Society’s net pension liability as a result of adverse external market
factors

Business Activities
The Society’s principal business activities are food stores, petrol filling stations, funeral
services and property investment. In addition, the Society has trading interests in travel
shops, coffin manufacture and optical services.
The Society currently holds a minority interest in Thomas Cook Co-operative Travel Limited
as part of a joint venture agreement. In December 2016 the Society gave formal notice to
exit the joint venture agreement in November 2017.

About us
Who we are
Central England Co-operative is one of the largest independent co-operative societies in the
UK. We are a modern, forward-looking business employing over 8,600 people. Our principal
business activities are food stores, petrol filling stations, funeral services and property
investment. In addition, the Society has trading interests in travel shops, coffin manufacture
and optical services.
We operate more than 400 trading outlets across 16 counties: West Midlands, Warwickshire,
Worcestershire, Staffordshire, Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Rutland, Nottinghamshire,
Northamptonshire, Lincolnshire, West Yorkshire, South Yorkshire, Suffolk, Norfolk,
Bedfordshire and Cambridgeshire.
We are proud of our heritage as a successful, member owned, member controlled
co-operative business. Our members and the local communities we serve are at the heart of
our business. We are committed to putting co-operative values and principles into everything
we do. Through our Corporate Responsibility strategy we continually seek opportunities to
improve the environment and contribute to the well-being and sustainability of the
communities in which we operate. The Society supports a number of charities, including
Newlife Foundation for Disabled Children and we invest 1% of our trading profit into
supporting local good causes across Central England.

What makes us different
A co-operative is a group of people acting together to meet the common needs of its
members, sharing ownership and making decisions democratically. We take a long term
approach to doing business and believe that we can maximise our performance and create
value for our members by behaving differently from our competitors.
Our members shape our business – our democratic process gives every member the
opportunity to have a say in how the Society is run.
We share our profits – as a co-operative our profits are shared with our members, our
colleagues and the local communities we serve.
We operate independently – we are proud to be one of the UK’s largest independent cooperatives, which means that we can set our own agenda whilst also being a key voice in
the co-operative sector as a whole.
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At the heart of the local community – we operate over 400 trading outlets across 16
counties in Central England. Over the last five years we have invested £185 million in
growing our business and have supported hundreds of local good causes through the
Society’s Community Dividend scheme.
We seek to support others – working co-operatively with partners and local good causes is
a key part of what we do and a number of our partnership projects are industry leading,
national awards winners.

Our Vision
Our vision is to be the UK’s best consumer co-operative society by making a real difference
to our members and our communities.

Our Values
Our values underpin our vision, and guide all of our actions.
Co-operation –our co-operative principles are at the heart of our actions
Improvement – always getting better at what we do
Recognition – rewarding the efforts and achievements of our colleagues
Customers – we listen to our customers to constantly provide great service
Honesty – openness and honesty as a way of working
Success – driving commercial success through effective leadership and teamwork
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What we do
Food
237 Food Stores
We continuously invest in and improve our estate to provide modern, energy efficient
convenience stores with a wide range of products and services to meet the needs of our
members and customers.
24 Petrol Filling Stations
Our petrol filling stations are a key part of our food store estate. We have introduced The
Co-operative brand at all of our filling stations and members can earn membership points
every time they fill up.
Food Distribution
Our Food Distribution Centres based in Leicester distribute over 27 million cases annually to
the Society’s food stores as well as those of two other neighbouring co-operative societies,
providing consistent and reliable product availability for our customers and members. In
2016, our distribution vehicles covered 2.8 million miles, making around 121,000 store
deliveries.

Funeral
122 Funeral homes
We are a leading provider of quality funeral services, conducting over 15,700 funerals in
2016. Our Funeral business also includes a crematorium in Bretby, located on the outskirts
of Burton-on-Trent.
10 Florist Shops
Our team of florists provide services for all occasions and support the work of our funeral
homes across the Society trading area.
3 Masonry Showrooms
Working alongside our funeral teams and other support services, our masonry outlets help to
ensure that families are supported through every step of their journey.
Coffin Manufacture
The Society’s coffin manufacturing business meets the needs of our funeral homes as well
as supplying a number of other funeral businesses.

Travel
20 Travel Shops
Our travel shop network is operated on a managed service basis through the Freedom
Travel buying group. This is in addition to our investment in the joint venture formed in 2011
which brought together all parts of the Society’s travel business with those of The
Co-operative Group and Thomas Cook’s UK retail shop network.
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Other Businesses
The Society’s portfolio of businesses includes three optical sites based in Hunstanton,
Peterborough and St Neots which are recognised for providing high quality, specialist optical
services and advice.
In October, we successfully completed the business transfer and sublet of the Society’s
Scunthorpe Department Store to a well-established, family owned department store
business based in Boston in Lincolnshire.

Property Investment
Our investment property portfolio represents an important part of the Society’s asset base,
as well as generating significant annual rental income.
Our property development activity supports our ambitious growth strategy by identifying new
trading outlets and business acquisitions across the Society’s trading area.
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Directors’ Report
To the Members
The Board of Directors is pleased to present its report for the year ended 28 January 2017.
President’s Overview
Maintaining a steady course …
The Society experienced a continuation of the trends highlighted in my overview in our
Interim Report to Members in October 2016. We have achieved a robust and encouraging
performance in 2016 with highly competitive market conditions, food price deflation and ongoing structural changes in the UK grocery sector representing a significant challenge to the
Society’s core food store business.
In spite of these difficult and uncertain economic conditions, your Board is pleased to
announce that the Society’s financial performance was strong with sales broadly in line with
the prior year and trading profit ahead of expectations. The Society’s resilient financial
performance was delivered whilst maintaining our ambitious growth programme and
continuing to invest in the communities in which we trade.
The Society’s solid financial performance has been matched with excellent progress in other
areas including awards for our credentials and achievements as a responsible co-operative
business. These achievements included the Society winning, for the second time, ‘Leading
Co-operative of the Year Award’ in June 2016 and the progression of the Society’s
Corporate Responsibility Index score to 4½ stars, up from 2½ stars in 2015.
This report is my last as President, with my three year tenure ending at the conclusion of the
Society’s constitutional year in April 2017. During my Presidency the Society has
successfully completed the integration of the former Anglia Society’s operations into our
enlarged trading estate following the transfer of engagements at the end of 2013. This highly
complex and important process was achieved whilst maintaining stable and planned
financial performance coupled with record levels of investment, with capital expenditure
totalling over £115 million during the three years. This significant investment in your Society
is a reflection of the Board’s long-term approach to decision making, which is intended to
ensure a successful, relevant and community focused co-operative business for the benefit
of its members both now and into the future.
The Board’s focus on membership and community has gained momentum during my
Presidency, and it will, I have no doubt, continue to differentiate our operations from that of
our competitors. I am proud that a Society as large as Central England continues to
maintain its ‘local touch’ in the communities we serve and make a positive impact on the
lives of those who interact and engage with us – in a mutually beneficial relationship.
Governance has been an important thread during my tenure, with the Board alert to the
importance of ensuring the Society has clear and effective governance arrangements in
place to oversee the Society’s affairs and promote the long term success of the business
It is important to recognise that all the achievements of the Society could not have been
realised without the hard work, dedication and commitment of our colleagues whom the
Board wishes to thank. I personally would also like to thank my colleagues on the Board and
Executive team for their support, guidance, constructive challenge and co-operation during
my Presidency.
The Board and I look forward to presenting our Annual Report to the Society’s members at
our Annual Meetings in April.
Maria Lee
Society President
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Chief Executive’s Review
Trading and Financial Performance
Our purpose beyond profit shines through …
We achieved a very pleasing performance in 2016 from both a financial and non-financial
perspective, which underlines our strength as a modern, progressive, member owned cooperative business.
The retail environment remains very challenging and highly competitive, with food price
deflation a key feature of the UK grocery market in 2016. Against this backdrop, we
achieved a resilient performance with total Society gross sales (excluding VAT) of £843.5m
(2015/16: £844.7m). The year under review covered a 53 week period compared to 52
weeks in the prior year. On a comparable 52 week basis, and after excluding the closed
Transport operations we exited in 2015/16, total gross sales (excluding VAT) were broadly in
line with the prior year.
Increased sales in our convenience stores and a good performance in our funeral business
were offset by the combined impacts of food price deflation and continued pressure in our
large stores and supermarkets. Our convenience stores and funeral business remain central
to our long-term growth strategy and continue to contribute to the Society’s success in the
current trading environment.
Trading profit of £20.0m (53 weeks) was ahead of our annual budget target and broadly in
line with the prior year (52 weeks 2015/16: £20.8m). This represents a strong performance
in the current climate and demonstrates our continued drive to provide great service to our
members and customers whilst ensuring careful management of our overheads. Our
achievements in 2016 are a testament to the dedication and capability of our colleagues and
reflect a real team effort across all levels within the Society.
Operating Profit of £11.3m was lower than the prior year (2015/16: £19.8m), with the prior
year benefitting from an increase in the investment property valuation compared to a small
decrease in the current year. The year-on-year movement in Operating Profit also reflects a
higher level of fixed asset impairments relating to the impact of increased competition at
specific locations. Profit before payments to and behalf of other stakeholders of £2.4m was
also lower than the prior year (2015/16: £13.4m), with the previous year including a dividend
receipt of £4.7m relating to the Society’s investment in Thomas Cook Co-operative Travel
Limited.
The continuation of our ambitious growth strategy saw record capital investment of £45.6m,
including the opening of nine new food stores, four new funeral homes and significant
refurbishment activity across the business. We completed 40 store refits during the year and
remodelled some of our larger stores to increase choice and additional services through the
introduction of concession partners. Our refit programme has continued the Society’s drive
to reduce energy consumption with investment in energy efficient lighting and refrigeration
equipment.
The importance of offering quality and value has included the further roll-out of new,
competitive lower prices across our fresh food ranges including produce, meat and fish. The
new lower prices have generated encouraging sales growth, particularly in fresh produce
categories, and have been well received by our members and customers.
Communication and regular engagement with our members remains a key part of our
strategy and we continue to send regular e-mails to our members to provide updates on instore promotions and offers, together with other information about the Society. We have
also updated the membership section of our website, members.coop, and plan to further
strengthen our digital links with members during 2017.
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Our funeral business maintained steady growth and market share despite increasingly
competitive conditions and a decline in the death rate in the earlier part of the year. During
the year we generated strong sales of pre-paid plans, providing our members and customers
with an easy way to arrange their funeral whilst protecting loved ones from rising costs and
uncertainty about their final wishes.
We are proud of the Society’s long established and strong position in the funeral market
although recognise the need to react to and anticipate changes in how people wish to
celebrate the life of loved ones and mark their passing. Our funeral strategy is focussed on
building upon the Society’s good reputation to ensure we are the most professional and
accessible provider of choice. By offering the best care and choice for our families, we aim to
enhance memories and love at the most difficult of times. The development of our funeral
strategy will continue to gather momentum in 2017, including the introduction of innovative
services to provide families with options to best meet their needs.
The Society’s 20 travel shops performed well during the year despite difficult market
conditions caused by world events, the fluctuating value of sterling and uncertainty arising
from the EU referendum. Travel sales within specialist niche sectors such as long haul,
tailor made, escorted tour and cruise have continued to grow and remain a key part of our
offer.
In December, the Society gave formal notice to Thomas Cook to exit the joint venture
agreement which was originally formed in 2011. The Society’s decision to exit the joint
venture was precipitated by The Co-operative Group’s similar announcement, also in
December 2016, to exit the joint venture. The exit will take place at the end of 2017. As a
result of this decision, the Society is entitled to receive an exit payment of £5.8m in return for
our 3.5% shareholding in the joint venture. The exit payment is in addition to the dividends
already received by the Society from the joint venture (in 2014 and 2015) totalling £5.1
million.
Elsewhere, we have made good progress on re-balancing the Society’s investment property
estate, with a number of planned disposals and acquisitions completed during the year. In
October, and in line with the Board’s strategy to reshape the trading portfolio, we also
completed the business transfer and sublet of the Society’s Scunthorpe Department Store to
a well-established, family owned department store operator. Changes within the trading
estate included the closure of a small number of loss-making food stores and funeral sites.
The related costs arising from these changes in the trading portfolio, together with the
impairment of certain trading sites, onerous lease charges and other business reorganisation
costs are included within Exceptional Costs in the Group Income Statement.
The Society’s capital expenditure programme continues to be supported by strong
underlying cash generation from operating activities, backed by the strength of the asset
base and carefully managed funding arrangements. This planned approach is reflected in
the Society’s net debt position of £11.5m at the year-end (2015/16: £8.4m) which is well
within our long-term funding arrangement.
The Society’s net assets of £167.2m show a sizeable decrease of £55.0m compared to the
position at January 2016, with the movement largely reflecting an increase in the net pension
liability in accordance with the accounting requirements of FRS 102. This adverse
movement was driven by a decrease in the discount rate used to place a value on the
pension scheme’s liabilities. We remain fully aware of the significance and volatility of the
value of the pension liability on an accounting basis as distinct from the funding position of
the scheme. In this context, the Society remains confident in the long term strategy to
address the pension scheme deficit on an affordable, fair and carefully controlled basis.
Customer focus and efficient ways of working remain a key part of our strategy and are
being supported by a number of change improvement programmes across the business. A
key driver of these initiatives is to ensure the Society is best equipped to meet the needs of
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the business, with the flexibility to adapt to an ever-changing and competitive trading
environment.
The provision of great customer service, quality and value in our food stores remain critical
factors to retain and attract customers. This important area represents a key measurement
for the business and we were pleased to achieve strong overall score of 75% of customers
being ‘very satisfied’ following interviews with over 7,400 shoppers at the end of the year.
Some stores scored 100%, with the feedback providing valuable insight to further improve
our services.
A key driver of the Society’s growth and success is the contribution of our colleagues in
providing consistently high standards and service to our members and customers. The
importance of our colleagues feeling a sense of belonging and commitment to the business
is measured through colleague engagement.
The Society has consistently placed great emphasis on this measure and it is encouraging
that our high employee engagement score was maintained in the Society’s annual ‘Bee
Heard’ colleague survey. The Society remains committed to providing fair and competitive
levels of pay and benefits to our colleagues. In October, we implemented improved rates of
pay for our food store team leaders as part of our Fair Reward initiative following the
introduction of increased pay structures to our front line staff in 2015.
Our encouraging trading performance in 2016 has again demonstrated the Society’s
resilience as a strong and successful independent co-operative business to compete in a
highly competitive environment, and underlines the Board’s confidence in the strategy that
continues to provide the framework for future growth.
Other progress
At Co-operative Congress in June 2016, we were proud to receive the award for ‘Leading
Co-operative of the Year’. This follows the same achievement in 2013, and reflects our ongoing commitment to run a successful co-operative business, with strong financial
performance being coupled with our broader positive impact as a responsible community
based retailer.
We were also pleased to achieve a further improvement in our Corporate Responsibility
(CR) index score to 4½ stars, up from 2½ stars in 2015 and from 2 stars in 2014. This
important achievement reflects the hard work of our colleagues across the Society and
demonstrates how we continue to embed CR within the business as the bedrock of the
Society’s vision and strategy. The business is committed to further improvements in this
area in line with our CR strategy.
Our commitment to support local communities has included the roll-out and installation of
over 150 defibrillators at a number of the Society’s food stores and funeral homes. This
important initiative has been funded by the 5p carrier bag levy and has been well received in
local communities and attracted positive media coverage. We have also extended our rollout of food bank collection points to over 180 stores across our food store estate.
In line with our Corporate Responsibility strategy, our colleague volunteering scheme
generated over 1,000 hours of time to support local good causes, whilst also providing
individuals with valuable experience outside the workplace. Further work to develop our
volunteering scheme will continue in 2017.
At the start of 2016 we launched our ‘Bloom’ campaign as part of the drive to promote
healthier lifestyles and improve mental health awareness. The scheme has attracted strong
support and participation, with colleagues and members making pledges to improve their
fitness, diet and well-being.
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The importance of the positive impact of our membership and community activity was
recognised during the year in an independently produced report to measure the Society’s
Social Return on Investment. The report was based on detailed research and analysis to
measure key aspects of our membership and community activity. The results were very
encouraging and demonstrated that every £1 invested by the Society generates a positive
community benefit of £20.50 – which equates to a combined total social impact of £8 million.
We will conduct further research in this area in 2017 to ensure our membership and
community activity is targeted in areas that will have the greatest impact.
Finally, we are pleased to have raised over £1.3 million for the Society’s colleague elected
corporate charity, Newlife Foundation for Disabled Children. Throughout the year we have
again seen numerous fundraising activities across the Society, providing much needed funds
for essential equipment and support to disabled and terminally ill children across our trading
area. We are on track to reach our fundraising target of £1.5 million in 2017 and remain
hugely proud and grateful for the ongoing enthusiasm, participation and generosity of the
Society’s colleagues, members and customers in supporting this most worthwhile charity.
Outlook
We expect the trading environment to remain challenging and highly competitive for the
foreseeable future. We also anticipate an uncertain economic backdrop over the medium
term, especially around the impact on imported food prices if sterling stays at lower levels,
and in terms of other external cost pressures.
The Society’s strategy continues to provide the framework to respond to the challenges
ahead, by optimising our co-operative point of difference and focussing on continuous
improvement in order to deliver sustainable business growth for the benefit of our members,
customers and local communities.
Martyn Cheatle
Chief Executive
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Business Performance
Food
£710.0 million Gross Sales (excluding VAT)
(2015/16: £698.9m)
9 new Food Stores
7,430 Colleagues

A positive year for our food stores
At the heart of our activities is our food retail business. With over 260 food stores ranging
from small convenience and petrol forecourts to large supermarket formats, how we operate
our food business and respond to market forces and changing customer behaviour is pivotal
to our success.
The food sector remains under pressure. The full impact of Brexit has yet to be fully
experienced although early signs are showing a shift from food deflation to inflation as the
pound fluctuates and food suppliers experience challenges within their own supply chain.
Add to this the pressure of increased wage costs, external factors continue to impact on our
performance.
While competition remains fierce as discounters and the large four supermarket chains vie
for market share, our food performance was positive. Although business was flat overall, it
nevertheless outperformed the market as a whole.
Our sales volumes increased by 0.5%, however in responding to the economic sentiment
and the needs of our members and customers, we invested in reduced prices, resulting in
food sales of £617.4m (2015/16: £603.8m) and fuel sales of £92.6m (2015/16: £95.1m). Our
Christmas trading performance exceeded expectations in terms of sales, margin and
customer experience.
Evolving with the market
Our retail success is dependent on reacting promptly to changes in purchasing patterns. The
way consumers buy food is evolving with more frequent visits to nearby shops and smaller
food baskets. This synchronises perfectly with our aim to support the local community, as we
continue our investment in our convenience estate with nine new stores opened in the year.
In addition, over 40 stores have received refits resulting in improved retail environments for
our members, customers and colleagues and significant energy savings.
At the same time we have been looking to maximise the relevance of our larger stores
through the addition of concessions, including M&Co, Dorothy Perkins and The Works,
which provide the benefit of more choice for customers whilst also increasing footfall. Some
of our other large store locations have been downsized to make them compatible with new
volumes of trade, and five loss-making stores were closed.
Right Range, Right Store
Our strong performance over the last 12 months is also attributable to trading in the right
locations and the right format to satisfy local customer needs. An appealing and enticing
product range, high levels of availability and quality has resulted in higher footfall across our
retail trading estate, whilst satisfying customers’ appetite for local ‘top up’ shopping. In line
with the Society’s food strategy, we have continued to review performance of the whole food
store estate in order to assess the strategic fit and long-term sales and profitability at each
location.
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Working closely with our shared buying services partner, Federal Retail and Trading Service
(FRTS), we have taken a ‘Right Range, Right Store’ approach to allow us to offer a
contemporary choice of quality food at competitive prices. Our products provide a modern
preference for healthy options, or more sophisticated cuisine as reflected in the launch of the
‘Irresistible’ own brand range, which has generated strong sales and positive member and
customer feedback.
To ensure availability of the right products, we have upgraded our ordering systems to better
predict supply requirements and create a more enjoyable and consistent shopping
experience for our members and customers.
During the year we have continued to review and implement a new operating model and
revised team structures for our food stores to drive efficiencies and ensure the Society has
an appropriate cost base to provide great service to our members and customers. The rollout of the improved Co-operative own-brand range in fresh categories, including produce,
and frozen foods continues to be complemented by the addition of ‘Free From’ and speciality
ranges in all of our food stores.
Insight and marketing continues to play a significant part in our overall food strategy with
innovative campaigns including ‘Summer of Sport’, online competitions to drive e-mail
acquisition and the successful delivery of the Christmas ‘Golden Ticket’ giveaway campaign
that saw over 54,000 customers walk away with free prizes in-store. We continued to issue
tailored coupons to members at the till point, through ‘Share of the Profits’ and online
vouchers, increasing member economic engagement and providing rewards for shopping
with us.
Ethical: local and global
As one of our major points of difference, we pride ourselves on being an ethical retailer,
taking an active approach to food waste and managing our environmental impact. Amongst
our initiatives we recycle paper, cardboard and plastics and continue to operate a total food
waste solution using an industrial anaerobic digestion plant which turns food waste into
green energy.
Equally important are our contributions to the well-being of local communities through the
introduction of food banks in stores where appropriate, helping combat food poverty across
our communities. As a co-operative, we continue to support Fairtrade products in all our
stores and in 2016 we donated two former distribution vehicles to Africa and two to
Stephenson College in Coalville, Leicestershire.
Customers and colleagues
Our colleagues play an important role in delivering the highest levels of customer service
which in turn drives long term customer and member loyalty. Colleague morale and
motivation is paramount in achieving this key objective.
Feedback from colleagues has been extremely positive, and is echoed in the results of our
Customer Satisfaction surveys. We interviewed over 7,400 shoppers during November and
December and established an overall score of 75% of customers being ‘Very Satisfied’ with
some stores scoring 100%. In nearly all specific indicators, such as ‘Queue Time’ and ‘Ease
of Finding Products’ we saw increased satisfaction over the previous survey.
Fit for the future
Our robust performance within this challenging retail environment gives us a firm foundation
on which to build. In the coming year we will remain true to our ethical principles and
maintain a focus on local communities, whilst developing and implementing our plans to
respond to economic pressures. Our investment in the Society’s retail trading estate will
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continue in line with our core objectives to build our convenience offer whilst driving
efficiencies and controlling costs.
Wholesale
£47.4 million Gross Sales (excluding VAT)
(2015/16: £46.6 million)
The efficient operation of the Society’s Food Distribution Centres remains an integral part of
the overall Retail Food strategy, ensuring the smooth and continuous supply of products to
our food stores and those of Tamworth and Heart of England Societies. Recent investment
in the Society’s distribution capability has seen continued productivity improvements as a
result of the new warehouse management system at the ambient and chilled distribution
centres in Leicester.

Funeral
£41.1 million Gross Sales (excluding VAT)
(2015/16: £38.2 million)
4 New Funeral Homes
865 Colleagues

Offering the best care and choice for our families
2016 has seen our funeral business maintain steady growth despite difficult trading
conditions and a decline in the death rate in the earlier part of the year. The Society
conducted 15,740 funeral services, a slight reduction on the prior year (2015/16: 15,830).
The death rates for the latter part of the year returned to expected levels and were broadly
level with the prior year. The market remains competitive across the Society’s trading area.
Against this backdrop, the Society remains focussed on providing the highest standards of
care and service to families at their time of need through our estate of funeral homes, florist
shops and masonry showrooms.
Notwithstanding these external factors we remained focused on delivering the best levels of
service and care, and were able to open four new funeral homes over the 12 months, invest
£1.9 million in new Mercedes limousines and increase total gross sales to £41.1 million.
One area of our business that has seen a large upturn is the purchase of pre-paid funeral
plans, which were marketed through highly-targeted mailing campaigns.
Our funeral strategy continues to be supported by our good reputation and brand position.
Our community led activity continues to underpin all that we do. With over 120 funeral
homes across our trading area, we continue to assess where our homes are situated to best
serve our local communities, as well as upgrading many and offering new formats. We
continue to recruit local people who are passionate about understanding clients’ needs at a
difficult time and making sure they are met.
Maintaining our customer and community focus we have looked at additional services to
help support families at the desperate times of need. The introduction of ‘Cuddle Cots’
allows families whom have experienced the loss of their baby to spend precious time with
their child. This provision is recognised as vitally important by bereavement groups – the
Society has also been acknowledged as the first funeral provider to introduce this specialist
equipment. ‘Cuddle Cots’ forms part of ‘Our Rainbow Service’ which provides a
complimentary funeral service with personalisation elements for all children up to 16 years of
age. We will continue to introduce other equally innovative options such as professional
bereavement support as part of continuous care.
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As the funeral market continues to benefit from innovation and changing customer
behaviour, it is vital that we too look towards continuous improvement and a customer
focused approach. Customer insight and market research will form an important part of our
strategic focus to future proof our funeral business.

Specialist businesses built around customers
£36.1 million Gross Sales (excluding VAT)
(2015/16: £37.2 million)
101 Colleagues
Our 20 Travel shops performed well in 2016, despite difficult trading conditions within the
holiday market.
World events, the EU referendum and the fluctuating pound resulted in an uncertain
environment for travellers. Encouragingly, customer sentiment improved towards the latter
part of the year with our travel business generating gross sales of £35.4 million which was
broadly in line with the prior year (2015/16: £36.3 million).
Built on solid foundations, our strategy continues to see our Travel shops concentrate on
offering bespoke holiday packages. Cruises, escorted tours and tailor-made experiences
remain a key part of our offer, with personal consultations helping to provide our members
and customers with the right package to meet their individual preferences.
We have also made improvements to our travel services, including an upgraded foreign
exchange facility and relocation of our Lowestoft shop to a new location.
As consumer confidence returns to the holiday market, we remain confident that our Travel
business is well positioned to meet the needs and requirements of our travel customers.
Our strategy to deliver high quality, specialist personal services extends across our Optical
business where we provide a full range of optical services including complex prescriptions,
dispensing services and a wide choice of classic and designer frames. Trading performance
in 2016 reflected the ongoing competitive conditions in this sector, with sales of £0.7 million
which were £0.2 million lower than the prior year (2015/16: £0.9 million).

Adding value to property investment
Rental Income £8.6 million
(2015/16: £9.8 million)
Investment Property Valuation £121.8 million
(2015/16: £112.0 million)
Our investment property portfolio represents a key part of the Society’s asset base and an
important source of cash generation to support our long-term business strategy.
We made good progress during the year on rebalancing the investment property estate, with
the completion of a number of planned disposals and acquisitions. The valuation of the
investment property estate at the end of the year was £121.8 million (2015/16: £112.0
million). During the year we acquired investments totalling £10.5 million which included the
purchase of two retail parks comprising 11 individual retail units. Other changes in the estate
included the transfer of former trading properties into the portfolio, a number of disposals
and small revaluation decrease, resulting in the carrying value increasing by £9.8 million.
Rental income of £8.6 million was in line with our budget expectations and reflected the
strategy to realign the portfolio, although lower than the prior year (2015/16: £9.8 million).
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Further investment property transactions are underway and expected to be completed in the
coming year.
Our small team of property professionals remains focussed on three core objectives:
supporting trading activity as part of the Society’s growth strategy; optimising performance of
the property portfolio; and creating value through carefully managed property activities. This
approach will remain at the centre of our property investment decisions; ensuring we add
value to the Society whilst also applying our co-operative ethos to enhance local
communities where there are opportunities to do so.
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Corporate Responsibility




4½ stars in the BITC CR index
Social Return on Investment of £20.50 for every £1 we invest the community
Over 150 defibrillators installed at Society food store and funeral home locations

Taking our corporate responsibilities seriously
All commercial activities can have an impact on people and the environment, and the
challenge for organisations is to make sure that, on balance, the effects are compassionate
rather than negative. This is what we mean by Corporate Responsibility and something that
we are fully committed to delivering both socially and ecologically to make a positive
contribution.
Corporate Responsibility is integral to our vision as a co-operative. We are deeply involved
in working for the well-being of local communities, and also believe in doing all we can to
improve the wider environment. That is why we have in place a structured plan to meet our
objectives that cover the four specific areas as laid down by the Prince of Wales’ Business in
the Community charity: namely Community, Environment, Marketplace and Workplace.
Making a measurable difference
In 2016, we were focused more than ever on giving back to the local community as well as
improving our energy efficiency and recycling. We also wanted to gain an idea of what our
activities were worth in monetary terms, and commissioned an independently prepared
Social Return on Investment (SROI) report.
The results from the report were very encouraging. It was calculated that our contribution
was worth over £8 million in social value, meaning that every £1 we invest in the community
is worth £20.50 on average in its effect on society.
A power of good in the community
A highlight of 2016 was our decision to use the 5p levy on carrier bags to buy over 150
defibrillators which we have positioned outside our stores. It was just one of many new and
ongoing projects throughout the year which included our support for 185 in-store food banks,
involvement in 50 different classes for our members, helping bereaved parents with our
Rainbow children’s funeral services, educating schoolchildren on food with our Healthy
Choices Workshops, and much more.
We are delighted to report that our colleagues donated over 1,000 hours of their time in
volunteering, and £220,000 was granted to worthwhile local organisations through our
Community Dividend scheme.
Helping protect the environment
We successfully continued our drive to reduce our carbon footprint during 2016, and are the
only retailer to achieve all four Carbon Trust Standards: the world’s leading independent
certification of an organisation’s impact on the environment. The switch to LED lighting in our
stores is making a big contribution to energy saving.
Waste prevention is key to our environmental activities, and last year saw us donating
tonnes of food through the FareShare initiative which would otherwise have been thrown
away.
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Making the workplace a positive place
The Society takes an active interest in creating a positive working environment that helps
colleagues realise their skills and gain fulfilment in their jobs. Every year we conduct a
survey to gauge the sentiment and attitudes of those who work with us, and take action
where necessary.
During 2016, around 87% of our colleagues participated in our ‘Bee Heard’ colleague
survey, with a strong engagement score of 77 being maintained. We also achieved an
excellent response to ‘Bloom’ – our scheme to promote health and well-being with 257
pledges received. In addition, we have supported 139 free health checks and delivered
health-inspired workshops to over 1,800 school children.
Bringing sustainability to the marketplace
Wherever possible we choose to source locally, and select suppliers who share our belief in
sustainability, asking them to follow our commitments and work towards their own
improvement targets. We have made significant progress in the way we engage and
manage our supply chain, signing up to the Prompt Payment Code and offering suppliers
greater support.
Our continuing engagement with an ethical and responsible approach to activities in the
Community, Workplace, Environment and Marketplace has been recognised by Business in
the Community who presented us with 4½ stars in their Corporate Responsibility Index for
2016 – a significant improvement on our previous star rating of 2½ in 2015. This major
achievement is a reflection of progress across a number of areas including our
environmental management systems, colleague well-being, business conduct and
standards, community investment measurement and our overall reporting processes.
Modern Slavery Statement
The Society wholeheartedly supports efforts from governments, businesses and
organisations across the globe to seek out and prevent modern slavery. Our members and
customers will know that the co-operative movement has a proud history of leading the way
in ethical trade stretching back over 170 years. At Central England Co-operative, we are
committed to acting ethically, with integrity, and with transparency in all of our business
activities and relationships to ensure that this shocking crime has no shadow to hide in.
In early 2017, the Board of Directors wholeheartedly approved the Society’s Modern Slavery
and Human Trafficking Policy and in accordance with the requirements of the Modern
Slavery Act 2015, the Statement is set out on pages 23 - 25 and is also available on our
website www.centralengland.coop
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Membership & Community




£220,000 Community Dividend Grants awarded
Membership & Community Councils gaining momentum
Commitment to focus on engaging young people

Inspiring our members and local communities
The duty of a conventional business is first and foremost to its shareholders, but as a cooperative we have different priorities. Our Membership & Community Strategy continues to
focus on growing our membership, increasing engagement with members and developing
stronger community links. We support our members and communities in a number of ways
including:




Community Dividend Fund
Member classes, events and activities
Donations to our colleague elected Corporate Charity and local charitable
organisations

Our Membership & Community Councils (MCCs) have been split into six sub-regions to
provide greater coverage within the communities we operate. Our MCC Ambassadors are
responsible for activity to support the strategic direction of member and community
engagement. These responsibilities include providing membership activities that promote
education, culture and recreation, supporting member and community engagement and
focussing on four specific CR themes of local food poverty, health & well-being, local
environment and youth employment.
For the first time, we commissioned a Social Return on Investment (SROI) report to gain an
accurate view of how effective our community led activities have been. We took the decision
to undertake this new form of robust analysis of our community impact to inform future
decision making and ensure that we continue to make a real difference to people’s lives.
Our approach can be summed up as ‘purpose beyond profit’. We put people at the heart of
everything we do, inviting all customers to become members and making our business an
inspirational part of the community.
Improving lives
Our Community Dividend grants are awarded to make a real difference to local groups, good
causes and charities. In 2016 we awarded grants totalling £220,000 with the Society
receiving positive feedback from applicants and local communities across Central England.
Much of the contribution we make to the community is also supported by our Membership &
Community Council Ambassadors who have a ground-level view of what is required in their
local area. We invested in 61 member groups which were attended by a total of 2,290
members. These involved a wide range of activities to improve people’s lives, covering
everything from dance classes to help in using social media.
With a key strategic aim to engage and support young people we’ve invested both financially
and through resources in helping young people and schools through our Healthy Choices
workshops and funding of specialist disability equipment through the Newlife Foundation.
One of our most important initiatives is our Sense to Aspire scheme which is a unique
programme for students with special educational needs. Young people are given free
classroom sessions and work experience in our shops. The result: increased confidence and
independence, plus the skills to find a job.
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During the period covered by our SROI report, over £23,000 was invested in Sense to Aspire
with 103 young people involved. It was calculated that for every £1 spent on the scheme
there was a social return of £17.49, equating to £0.42 million in added value.
The younger generation are central to our future strategy, which will include engaging young
people through educational partnerships and introducing them to the values and principles of
being a co-operative.
Maximising the social return
It is through our Membership & Community Ambassadors that we are able to react quickly
and relevantly to local needs. To complement our existing experience, our Social Return on
Investment Report has provided valuable insight to enable the Society to take an overview of
our activities and see where the money is being best utilised. Using data to drive community
investment decisions will ensure we continue to drive maximum impact where it matters
most.
Our SROI report also highlighted the importance of volunteering and other non-financial
activities that our colleagues regularly participate in. During 2016 we recorded over 1,000
volunteering hours, a significant increase on the previous years. Volunteering is a mainstay
of our membership and community activity and a tangible part of what makes us different.
Going digital
During 2016 we have taken time to revamp Members.coop, the membership section of our
corporate website. Members can now easily navigate around the site to find out information
on membership, voting, activities and our twice-yearly members’ meetings.
We continue to engage and encourage members to use our website for Board and MCC
elections by delivering an easy to use voting portal accessed from our main Society website.
As part of our enhanced digital communication, we now send out regular e-mails to our
members who have given us permission to communicate online. Regular updates on our
work in the community, as well as local news and Society offers, have been well received
with open and click through rates above the industry average.
Building future momentum
The Membership & Community Working Group, formed in 2015 with representatives from
the Board, senior management and the MCCs, will continue to focus on optimising the
Society’s point of difference as a successful, member-owned, and community-based
co-operative business. As part of the strategy of growing our membership base, we will
continue to make joining the Society easier using our ‘Join In’ membership card. Join In
enables new members to instantly receive all the benefits of membership including share of
the profits, access to and involvement in membership and community activities and events
and the opportunity to have a say at our members’ meetings.
We will continue to effectively promote Members’ events during 2017 via member e-mails,
online and via our in-store membership and community communications.

Page 20 of 104

Our brilliant colleagues make us who we are




8,676 colleagues
Colleague engagement index score maintained at 77
Over £800,000 distributed in colleague dividend

People are at the heart of everything we do, whether they are colleagues or customers. Our
culture and values are fundamental to our business and through nurturing and growing our
culture we are able to bring our difference to life and deliver a great customer experience.
Our continued investment in communication, leadership, development, and talent
management enables us to have engaged and high performing teams, creating a winning
environment that brings out the best in our people.
We believe our approach to colleagues played a key role in Central England Co-operative
being named ‘Leading Co-operative of the Year’ in June 2016. By employing and
encouraging people who share our values we are able to play a truly effective role in the
local community and secure our future through colleague advocacy, long-time loyalty, and
carefully nurtured talent.
Colleague engagement
We work hard to ensure Central England Co-operative remains a great place to work and
continue to give our colleagues the opportunity to feedback. We held a series of listening
sessions across the Society throughout the year, most with the Chief Executive present. The
feedback has helped shape a number of areas, including our internal communications,
engagement and reward strategies.
Our annual colleague survey showed that engagement levels remain strong and consistent
with the prior year at an impressive level of 77. Response rates were positive too with 87%
of our colleagues taking part, an increase of 2% on the previous year. Our employee
engagement level is recognised as ‘upper quartile’ performance and underlines our
commitment to support and develop colleagues in their roles. Our top scoring category was
‘My Place of Work’, with the majority of colleagues having an understanding of what is
expected in their role (94%) and a high proportion of the team committed to the continuous
improvement of customer service (85%). We encouraged individual teams to agree three
commitments together based on their team results to help increase engagement levels even
further, and we also made three commitments centrally against our lowest scoring questions
across the Society.
Leadership and learning
One of our aims is to make it easy for our colleagues to be brilliant and we are committed to
ensuring each step of our colleague life cycle is a great experience for our colleagues. This
year we enhanced our learning journey frameworks making it easier for our colleagues to
develop.
Making sure our colleagues have the right skills and motivation means that we continue to
invest significantly in learning and development using a blended approach of learning
interventions such as our ‘Leading the Way’ leader and colleague programme and Future
Engage Deliver (FED) leadership training. During 2016, 56% of colleagues attended a face
to face learning event and over 300,000 online learning modules were completed.
We recruit and retain the best talent and look for people who share our values from the
outset and have introduced a new tool for personality profiling to help us in hiring like-minded
individuals.
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Having the right talent and development to deliver the Society strategy will ensure we are fit
for the future.
Rewarding and motivating
We continue to reward the commitment of our colleagues with competitive salaries and
6,379 colleagues were also rewarded in 2016 with the ‘Share of the Profits’ employee
dividend with approximately £800,000 distributed. In March 2016, new pension
arrangements were introduced to provide colleagues with a modern, flexible pension plan to
prepare for their retirement.
Our ‘Leading Brilliance’ awards are key to recognising colleague talent and outstanding
performance. Our awards ceremony in September 2016 covered many categories, from
Leaders to Learners, and Community Advocate to Support Team. Equally inspiring was our
new way of celebrating loyalty with a special event at Chatsworth House to present
colleagues with Long Service awards.
Our colleagues’ wellbeing is important to us and earlier this year we launched ‘Bloom’, an
initiative which encourages colleagues, as well as members and customers, to lead more
active and healthy lifestyles and improve mental health awareness. Further work will
continue in 2017 in this important area.
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MODERN SLAVERY & TRAFFICKING STATEMENT
1.

Introduction
This statement sets out the actions and activities that Central England Co-operative has
taken during the financial year ending January 2017, and is continuing to take, to
ensure that modern slavery or human trafficking is not taking place within our Society or
supply chain.
Modern slavery is a crime resulting in the abuse of the human rights of vulnerable
workers. It can take the form of slavery, servitude, forced or compulsory labour, or
human trafficking. The Society has a zero tolerance approach to modern slavery. We
are committed to acting ethically, with integrity, and with transparency in all of our
business activities and relationships to ensure that we are free from slavery and human
trafficking. We expect the same high standards from our suppliers and contractors.

2.

Our businesses
This statement covers the activities of Central England Co-operative, a retail business
operating solely within the UK. During the financial year ended 28 January 2017 we held
relationships with approximately 1000 suppliers.

3.

Our high risk areas
We assess whether or not a particular activity is at risk of modern slavery or human
trafficking by undertaking a risk assessment with any new and existing suppliers.
We have reviewed all GNFR (goods not for resale) suppliers with annual expenditure in
excess of £100,000 to set their risk status regarding modern slavery. Of these we have
contacted our top 40 suppliers to conduct more detailed due diligence.
Our reviews have not identified any activities to be at high risk of slavery or human
trafficking within the Society’s GNFR supply chain during the period ended 28 January
2017.
It is important to note that 95% of the products for Central England Co-operative food
stores are sourced through a central buying services agreement. A copy of the Sound
Sourcing Code of Conduct is available from the following link: https://www.cooperative.coop/ethics

4.

Our policies
We operate a number of internal policies to ensure that we are conducting business in an
ethical and transparent manner. These include:
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Policy – This policy is designed to set out our
stance on modern slavery and human trafficking and explains how our colleagues can
identify and report instances of modern slavery and human trafficking within our business
activities or supply chain.
Whistleblowing Policy – This policy is designed to make it easy for workers to make
disclosures without fear of retaliation. Workers can use our confidential telephone line to
make such disclosures. Any disclosures in relation to modern slavery or human trafficking
will be reported to the police to investigate.
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Colleague code of conduct – We make it clear to our colleagues the actions and
behaviours that are expected of them when representing the Society. We strive to
maintain the highest standards of colleague conduct and ethical behaviour when
managing our supply chain.
Recruitment/Agency Workers Policy – We operate a robust recruitment policy, which
includes the checking of eligibility to work in the UK to help safeguard against human
trafficking or forced labour. We only use specified, reputable employment agencies to
source labour and always verify the practices of any new agency we use before
accepting workers from that agency.
5.

Our suppliers
Central England Co-operative operates a procurement policy and maintains a preferred
supplier list. We conduct due diligence on all suppliers with an annual spend in excess of
£50,000 before allowing them to become a preferred supplier.
This due diligence includes an online search to ensure that a particular organisation has
never been convicted of offences relating to modern slavery.
As part of due diligence, a risk assessment process was introduced on 1st March 2016.
This gives consideration to the type of product or service being supplied, the area of
operation, whether a supplier has published a policy and statement in relation to modern
slavery, whether it has made a commitment to paying the National Living Wage as a
minimum and whether any of its services are outsourced. In addition, where the supplier
provides goods and services from abroad, they are required to demonstrate that
employment practices are ethical and comply with good practice. This was introduced for
all new suppliers with an annual spend in excess of £50,000 from 1 March 2016, and we
have also undertaken this assessment with our top 40 existing suppliers.
Our suppliers are expected to comply with our standards in relation to modern slavery,
and this expectation forms part of our invite to tender document for all new suppliers. This
includes their commitment to comply with all legislation in relation to the Modern Slavery
Act, to commit to not taking part in any action that might cause or lead the Society to be
in violation of the Act, to assist the Society in the performance of activity by any
regulatory body for the purpose of the Act, and to provide warrants that there is no
Modern Slavery taking place in their supply chain.
We have included our expectations in relation to modern slavery within our supplier
contracts, and reserve the right to terminate contracts held with our suppliers at any time
should any instances of modern slavery come to light.

6.

Training
On 4 July 2016 the Society conducted training for the Senior Leadership team /
Procurement team / HR team and Corporate Responsibility Team so that the signs of
modern slavery could be understood and what to do if modern slavery is suspected within
our supply chain.
In 2017 the Society will engage managers and colleagues to brief them on requirements
under the Modern Slavery act alongside what is expected should they believe they have
witnessed modern slavery.
The Society is also committed to supporting our suppliers understanding the importance
of eradicating modern slavery within supply chains, and this was featured at our supplier
engagement event held in June 2016.
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7.

Our performance indicators
We will know the effectiveness of the steps we are taking to ensure that slavery and/or
human trafficking is not taking place within our business or supply chain if no reports are
received from our colleagues, the general public or law enforcement agencies to indicate
that modern slavery practices have been identified.
An annual review will be conducted by the Society’s Compliance team to evidence the
commitments made in our Policy. This will cover all areas in the Society where third party
supplier relationships exist through our Funeral Business, Product and Category Team
and Procurement team.

Approved by the Board of Directors
23 March 2017
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Corporate Governance
Valedictory message from the outgoing President – Maria Lee
I am pleased to introduce our Governance report for the year ended 28 January 2017 on
behalf of your Board. This report is my last as Society President, with my Presidency due to
expire, as prescribed in the Society’s Rules, at the conclusion of the Annual Members’
meeting(s) in April 2017.
Your Board has made significant progress towards its aim of becoming the ‘best cooperative board’, an ambitious objective I have pursued during my term in office. I am proud
that a framework has been established which will enable further progress to be made and
support the Board in ensuring the continued success of our Society.
It has been an honour and a privilege to be President of one of the UK’s largest independent
retail co-operatives, which makes a real difference to the communities it serves. The Society
has remained resilient in increasingly difficult and uncertain economic conditions, and is well
placed to achieve further success in the future for the benefit of our members.

Governance Framework
The Society strives for the highest professional standards and business performance and
seeks to maintain these standards across all of its operations. The Society has an
appropriate organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and monitoring
business operations in order to achieve the Society’s objectives. The organisational structure
has clearly defined lines of responsibility and of delegated authority. In January 2015 the
Board approved a Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board which clearly defines those
responsibilities reserved for the Board and those delegated to the Management Executive. A
high-level summary of the Society’s governance framework is set out on the following page.
The Board is accountable to the whole membership and responsible for ensuring the Society
carries out its commitment to be a successful co-operative business, and serve the best
interests of the members as well as protecting the assets of the Society. In carrying out its
duties, the Board is collectively responsible for the control and direction of the affairs of the
Society. The Management Executive is responsible for the day to day operation of the
Society. Any decision which is likely to have a material impact on the Society from any
perspective, including but not limited to financial, operational, strategic or reputational is
reserved for the Board.
The Board, in consultation with the Management Executive, is responsible for setting the
Society’s strategy and monitoring delivery of that strategy by management, identifying key
business risks facing the Society and for the development of policies and procedures to
manage those risks.
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The Board
The responsibilities of the Board are set out in the Rules as follows:





To ensure that the Society’s affairs are conducted in accordance with its Rules, the best interests of
the Society and its Members and in accordance with the Co-operative Values and Principles;
To determine the strategy and policy of the Society in consultation with the Chief Executive and the
Management Executive;
To determine the risk strategy of the Society and ensure that risk management is addressed;
To oversee the work of the Chief Executive and the Management Executive in the day-to-day
management of the business of the Society

Audit & Risk Committee

Chief Executive

Responsible for overseeing the adequacy
of the Society’s system of internal
controls relating to risk management,
disclosure, financial reporting and for
ensuring the effectiveness of the internal
audit function.

Head of the Management Executive and
responsible for conducting the day-to-day
business of the Society in accordance with
the Society’s Rules.

Remuneration Committee

Management Executive

Responsible for determining the
remuneration policy for the Management
Executive and Secretary, overseeing its
implementation and setting appropriate
and supportable levels of reward for the
Executive, aligned to the Society’s
strategy.



Rules & Practices Committee

Capital Committee

Responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the Rules and constitution of the Society
and making any recommendations to the
Board. Responsible for reviewing the
Society’s compliance with the Cooperative UK’s Corporate Governance
Code.

Co-ordinate all requests and approvals for
capital and significant revenue expenditure,
including for onward presentation to the
Board for consideration and approval in
accordance with the Society’s defined
delegated authority limits.

Search Committee

Risk Management Committee

Responsible for keeping the effectiveness
of the Board under review by ensuring the
composition of the Board provides an
appropriate balance of skills, experience
and diversity to provide effective
leadership and oversight of a society of
the size and complexity of Central
England Co-operative.




Conduct Committee

Society Secretary

Examination and oversight as and when
required of breaches of conduct relating
to the actions of Board Directors.







To keep the Society operations aligned
to the strategic objectives
To take strategic decisions as required
To set the tone for the culture and
behaviours required

To monitor risk frameworks
To provide summary reporting on
Society risk
To provide recommendations to the
Audit and Risk Committee on Risk
Management policy and risk appetite
To communicate with the Leadership
Group on changes to risk environment
and progress against the risk
frameworks

To advise and guide the Board of Directors
and to support the Society President in the
implementation of Board matters
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Board Governance Activities during the Year
Board development continued to be an area of importance in 2016, with formal training
provided by external providers, and internally with operational ‘deep dives’, which focused on
a particular area of the Society’s business or key strategic topic. Deep dive sessions held
during the year included People and Reward Strategy, Business Intelligence, Property
Strategy, Trading Development and IT Strategy.
During the year the Board received training on the following topics:





Pensions
Risk, Risk Appetite and Risk Management
Competition Law
Conflicts of Interest

The Board also received facilitated sessions reviewing the progress it had made in
embedding the rationale statement, outlined below, which was adopted in September 2015 –
with agreed actions to further enhance the Board’s operation and ways of working.
We are collectively the custodians of the Society, acting in accordance with
co-operative values and principles for sustainable business success, to secure a
co-operative business for future generations, by:




working with the Executive to set and monitor the implementation of our strategy
setting the ethos and culture of the Society
fulfilling our obligations to members and all stakeholder

The Board, as reviewed and recommended by the Search Committee (a sub-committee of
the Board), adopted a formal framework for reviewing and improving its effectiveness.
Annual

Triennial

One-to-one appraisals for those
elected Directors starting the second
year of their tenure (typically this will
be four Directors per annum),
conducted by the President.
One-to-one appraisals with the
Independent Non-executive
Directors conducted by the
President.

Independent Board effectiveness
evaluation – to include a skills
audit.

Board evaluation survey completed
by all Directors, reviewed by the
President and Secretary to identify
key themes, areas for improvement
and actions.
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Corporate Governance Code for Consumer Co-operatives
As a Registered Society, Central England Co-operative is not required to comply with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, which applies to listed companies.
However, Co-operatives UK has published a Code of Best Practice for Consumer
Co-operatives, which is based on the UK Corporate Governance Code, but applicable to the
particular governance circumstances of a Co-operative Society.
Under the terms of the Code’s compliance assessment, the Board has a responsibility to
ensure that the Society complies with those recommendations that are appropriate to its
circumstances, or to explain its reasons where this is not the case.
The version of the Corporate Governance Code applicable to the current reporting period is
The Corporate Governance Code for Consumer Societies, which was revised and published
by Co-operatives UK in 2013 (the Code). The Code is available on Co-operatives UK’s
website (www.uk.coop).
The Society conforms to the majority of the Code’s provisions and principles and where it
does not, a brief explanation is detailed below. By providing appropriate explanations, the
Board is satisfied that it has fully complied with Code.
The following explanations are provided:
Principle

Explanation

Principle H – The Chair
Provision 68 - “A chair should have served at
least one term of office as director before
being appointed to the role.”
Provision 73 – “The Board has agreed a
mechanism for removing a poorly performing
chair”

The Board appoints the Chair based on the
relevant skills, knowledge and experience to
fulfil the role
No formal mechanism has been adopted by
the Board. The Chair/President is appointed
for a one year term after which this is
reviewed by the Board at which time an
alternative Chair can be appointed; a vote of
no confidence can be held at any time with a
simple majority and carried by a simple
majority.

Principle N – Board Performance
Evaluation
Provision 93 – “Appraisal of the chair should
be carried out at least annually in his or her
absence to evaluate his or her performance
and on other such occasions as are deemed
appropriate.”
Principle P – The Search Committee
Provision 102 – “The Search Committee
should formulate plans for succession for the
board and members of the management
executive.”

Feedback to the President is provided as
part of the Director appraisal process.

The Search Committee’s Terms of
Reference allow for Board succession
planning as far as is possible. The Chief
Executive is responsible for succession
planning in respect of the Management
Executive.

Page 29 of 104

Principle Q – The Remuneration
Committee
Provisions 117 and 118 – Policies and
Procedures in respect of compensation for
loss of office for Directors and Management
Executive
Principle R – The Audit Committee
Provision 130 – “The Audit Committee
should have the right to report any decision
by the board to override its
recommendations to the external auditors
and to the members”

Compensation for loss of office in respect of
the Management Executive is covered by
way of contractual arrangements. Other
than in exceptional circumstances, the Board
is satisfied that it would not be appropriate to
have such arrangements in place for
Directors.
In accordance with the Audit & Risk
Committee’s Terms of Reference, the
Committee meets the external auditor at
least once each year in private session and
without the presence of management. The
Committee also meets the Internal Audit
Manager at least once each year without the
presence of management. The Board and
Audit & Risk Committee are satisfied that
these arrangements, coupled with the
Committee’s clear Terms of Reference,
provide a rigorous and robust approach to
the oversight of the Society’s system of
internal controls.

Director Attendance at Meetings
It is expected that Directors attend Board meetings as a matter of course. The table below
lists the attendance record of Directors for the year ended 28 January 2017.
The figures show the number of meetings attended with the number of meetings they were
eligible to attend included in brackets.
Directors

Attendance

Jane Avery

11 (13)

Richard Bickle

13 (13)

Sean Clothier

13 (13)

Elaine Dean

11 (13)

Dave Ellgood

12 (13)

Max Hunt

12 (13)

Maria Lee

13 (13)

Marta Mayhew

13 (13)

Martyn McCarthy

13 (13)

Tanya Noon

13 (13)

Sue Rushton

12 (13)

Paul Singh

13 (13)

Graeme Watkins

13 (13)

Rachel Wilkinson

13 (13)
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Remuneration Report
Statement from Committee Chair
I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for the Society’s 2016/17 financial year,
on behalf of the Remuneration Committee.
The Committee’s primary role is to provide robust independent governance for executive
remuneration and to ensure that the Remuneration Policy for the Management Executive:




Pays base salaries at the median level of market-based salaries once the individual has
become fully established in post and performance is viewed as fully acceptable.
Aligns the Management Executive interests with both the short and long-term strategic
goals of the Society.
Ensures that performance metrics are aligned to the Society’s values and principles.

The report has been prepared having regard to the reporting requirements that apply to UK
Public Limited Companies (PLCs). Although the Society is not required to comply with these
requirements, the Committee seeks to comply with governance best practice and has
adopted these requirements where it is appropriate to do so to aid transparency.
Structure of this Report
This report is spilt into the following main sections:


Remuneration Governance describes how the Remuneration Committee is set up
along with the activities during the 2016/17 financial year.



The Remuneration Policy outlines the Remuneration Committee’s Policy for the
Management Executive.



The Implementation Report which sets out how the Policy has been applied during the
2016/17 financial year.



Board Director Fees provides details on the fees, expenses and benefits for the
Society’s Board of Directors.

Society Performance
The Society performed ahead of plan on our key metrics in what was a challenging year,
achieving trading profit above expectations. Payments are due to be paid under both the
annual and the long term incentive schemes, totalling 31.21% of base salary.
Changes in Policy
The detailed content of Executive remuneration is covered in the later section on
Remuneration Policy.
The Committee felt it was timely to ask New Bridge Street, the Committee’s independent
remuneration consultants, to undertake a formal review of the Management Executive
Remuneration Policy with a particular focus on the annual incentive scheme and long-term
incentive plan. As a result of this review, the Committee concluded that the schemes
remained fit for purpose and represented a measured response within its terms of reference.
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A change to the Remuneration Policy in 2016/17 was the introduction of a clawback
provision for the annual incentive and long-term incentive schemes, recommended by New
Bridge Street as best practice within the wider remuneration market. This enables the
Society to reclaim amounts that have been paid under either scheme in the event of a
material misstatement of the Society’s accounts, an error in the calculation of performance
conditions (where these can be shown to have had an impact on the calculation of the
incentive scheme payment) or gross misconduct by the individual.
The Committee is not proposing any further changes to the formal Remuneration Policy for
this year.
The Committee would be pleased to have members’ support for this report.

Maria Lee
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration Governance
This section of the report contains information about the Remuneration Committee along
with details of the result of the advisory vote on last years’ remuneration report at the
Society’s Annual Members’ Meetings in April 2016.
Role of the Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of the Board whose primary role is to:


Determine policy on remuneration and other main terms and conditions of employment in
the respect of all Society colleagues who are members of the Management Executive,
including the Chief Executive, along with the Society Secretary.



Oversee the application of the Remuneration Policy to ensure a consistent approach.



Review remuneration using comparisons against the agreed market benchmarks for the
Executive roles.



Approve any relevant Management Executive incentive schemes and ensure that they
support the Society strategy, values and objectives and make recommendations to the
Board to authorise payments under any incentive schemes in accordance with the
scheme rules.



Review and recommend, to the Board, loss of office agreements and payments prior to
an Executive’s termination of employment with the Society



Be responsible for ensuring that an appropriate performance monitoring process is in
place and completed for the Chief Executive and Society Secretary, with the findings
reported to the Board.



To recommend and periodically review the remuneration of Directors for consideration by
the Board and subsequent approval of the Society’s Members, as required by the
Society’s rules.



Keep under review the leadership needs of the Society, specifically the succession plan
in respect of the Chief Executive and their Executive Team, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the Society to compete effectively in the marketplace.

The Committee’s terms of reference are available on request. The Committee is accountable
to the Board and reports on its activities at the Board meeting following each Committee
meeting.
Members of the Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises the Society President and three Directors, who can
serve on the Committee for a maximum of nine consecutive years (subject to being reelected to the Board every three years and re-appointed to the Committee every two years).
Directors who are also colleagues employed by the Society cannot serve on the Committee.
The Directors who served on the Remuneration Committee during the year were:
Committee member
Maria Lee
Chair of the Committee
Graeme Watkins
Committee Member
Rachel Wilkinson
Committee Member
Paul Singh
Committee Member

Date of
appointment

Committee meetings
held during 2016/17

Committee meetings
attended during 2016/17

June 2014

6

6

July 2015

6

5

July 2015

6

6

July 2016

3

3
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The Chief Executive and Support Services Executive are also invited to attend the meetings
of the Committee, but are not present when their own remuneration or terms and conditions
are being considered.
The Society Secretary, or in his absence the Assistant Society Secretary, acts as secretary
to the Committee.
Committee’s Activities 2016/17
Meeting
March

Confirmation of incentive payable; setting performance conditions for Annual
Incentive and LTIP grants; finalisation of remuneration report and remuneration
insert for the annual report

May

Review of scope and proposed costs relating to the Management Executive
Remuneration Policy review

July

Review of Management Executive remuneration package; review of Board
Director fees

August

Review of the Annual and LTIP schemes and review of Board Director fees

December

Review of remuneration insert for annual report; review of Board Director
delegation fees

January

Review of remuneration insert for annual report; noting of forecast incentive
payment levels; agreement on annual uplift to Executive salaries and Board
Director fees

Independent Advice
The Remuneration Committee received advice over the year from independent remuneration
consultants New Bridge Street (an AON Hewitt company), who are a member of the
Remuneration Consultants’ Group and has signed up to that Groups’ Code of Conduct. New
Bridge Street provide independent, professional advice to the Remuneration Committee on
remuneration policy, salary ranges and other elements of remuneration, where required.
New Bridge Street was selected as the advisor to the Committee through a competitive
tendering process in 2011 and their services were retained for 2016/17. New Bridge Street
did not provide other services to the Society during the year, however, AON Hewitt was
retained as the Society’s broker for insurance services.
Work undertaken by New Bridge Street for the Committee during 2016/17 included updating
the Committee on trends in compensation and governance matters and advising the
Committee in connection with benchmarking of the annual incentive performance metrics for
the Management Executive. If requested, a member from New Bridge Street is available to
attend each meeting of the Remuneration Committee. The fees for New Bridge Streets’
services for 2016/17 were £32,140 (including VAT).
The Committee has a mechanism in place for reviewing the objectivity and independence of
the advice it receives from its providers. In the course of its deliberations, the Committee
considers the recommendations of the Chief Executive on the remuneration of the other
members of the Management Executive. The Support Services Executive also provides
advice and guidance to the Committee where necessary. Neither is present when decisions
are being made with respect to their own remuneration.
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Member Voting at Annual Meeting
An advisory vote on the remuneration report is held at each Annual Members’ Meeting. The
table below summarise the result of the vote on the 2015/16 remuneration report at the April
2016 Annual Members’ Meeting along with any other matters that have been put to a vote
during the 2016/17 financial year:
Date of
Members’
Meeting
April 2016
October 2016

Topic

For

Against

Abstentions*

Blank/Spoilt*

2015/16
Remuneration report

100%
(965 votes)

0%
(0 votes)

(2 votes)

(0 votes)

(81 votes)

(2 votes)

Board Director
Fees & Expenses

72.5%
27.5%
(591 votes) (224 votes)

* Abstentions are not recognised as a vote ‘for’ or ‘against’ and are not included when calculating
whether a motion has been carried.

This years’ remuneration report has been reviewed by the Society’s Remuneration
Committee and will be put to an advisory vote at the Society’s forthcoming Annual Members’
Meetings in April 2017.
The Remuneration Policy
This section of the report explains the Remuneration Committee’s Policy for the
remuneration of the Management Executive. It contains a description of the overall reward
policy, a table summarising each remuneration component and a description of how the
Policy for the Management Executive compares to the policy for the Society’s other
employees.
Reward Philosophy
Our colleagues are central to the Society’s on-going success and the Society’s overall
reward strategy supports this. Our objective is to have a fair, sustainable and competitive
total reward package which enables the Society to:


Attract the right people that share our purpose and live our values



Motivate our colleagues to deliver the Society’s goals together



Recognise our colleagues advocacy and positive contribution to the Society



Retain our colleagues which will enable the Society to deliver its long-term vision

The Remuneration Policy for the Management Executive aims to:




Pay base salaries at the median level of market-based salaries once the individual has
become fully established in post and performance is viewed as fully acceptable.
Align the Management Executive interests with both the short and long-term strategic
goals of the Society
Ensure that performance metrics are aligned to the Society’s values and principles

A disproportionate emphasis on incentive pay is considered inappropriate for the Society’s
Management Executive and Society Secretary and therefore on-target and maximum
incentive opportunity levels are significantly lower than those available to executives in
PLC’s.
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Summary of Remuneration Components
Base Salary
Purpose and link to strategy: To pay a fair salary commensurate with an individual’s role.
Operation Assessment

Maximum Opportunity

Performance

Base salaries should be at the
median level of market-based salaries
once the individual has become fully
established in post and performance
is viewed as fully acceptable.

No prescribed maximum annual
increase.

None

Salaries are normally increased
annually to reflect inflation with
changes effective from the start of the
new financial year in January.
A formal salary review is conducted
when required, such as a significant
change in role responsibilities, to
ensure market competiveness (the
last review was conducted in
February 2015).

Annual increases will be in line
with the National Association of
Co-operative Officials (NACO)
agreement to reflect inflation.
Increases in excess of this may
be made at the Committee’s
discretion in circumstances such
as a significant change in
responsibility; progression in the
role; and alignment to market
level.

The Committee will also consider job
scope, function, size and complexity
of the business along with internal
relativities between other positions
within the Society.
Annual Incentive
Purpose and link to strategy: To motivate and incentivise achievement of performance
measures whilst ensuring total cash reward is below that of equivalent PLC schemes.
Operation Assessment

Maximum Opportunity

Performance

Annual incentive
payments (if performance
conditions have been met)
are paid within 4 months
following the end of the
financial year to which
they relate.

All payments are made on a
self-funding basis.

Annual incentive payments are
based on achievement of trading
profit budget.

Any annual incentive
payments are paid in cash
and are non-pensionable.

The amount payable under
the scheme is the same for
all members of the
Management Executive and
is dependent on the financial
performance of the Society
as follows:
Threshold (achieve 95% of
budget for Society) – 6.25%
of base salary
On Target (achieve 100% of
budget for Society) – 12.5%
of base salary
Stretch (achieve 105% of
budget for Society) – 25% of
base salary
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Performance metrics are set
prior to and measured over the
relevant financial year.
The Committee has discretion to
amend or vary any weighting of
performance metrics over the life
of this Remuneration Policy.
A claw back provision will apply
under which part or all of the
cash payment can be recovered
if there is a restatement of the
financial accounts, a
re-calculation of performance
conditions or gross misconduct
by the individual.

Long-term Incentive
Purpose and link to strategy: To augment the Management Executive interests with the
long-term strategic goals of the Society.
Operation Assessment

Maximum Opportunity

Performance

All LTIP awards are made
annually, have a three year
performance period and are
subject to performance
measures

All payments are made on a
self-funding basis.

Service and performance
measures must be met
over a three year period.

Any new joiners of the
Management Executive will
have any awards pro-rated
to reflect the length of
service.
Subject to achieving set
performance conditions any
LTI payments are paid in
cash, are non-pensionable
and paid within 4 months
following the end of the
performance period to which
they relate.

The amount payable under the
scheme is the same for all
members of the Management
Executive and is dependent on
the achievement of
performance measures as
follows:
Threshold (achieve 90% of
performance measures) –
6.25% of base salary
On Target (achieve 100% of
performance measures) –
12.5% of base salary
Outstanding (achieve 110% of
performance measures) – 25%
of base salary

Performance measures
are set at the start of each
three year award cycle
and comprise:
 Trading Profit (70%
weighting)
 Customer Service
(10% weighting)
 Colleague
Engagement (10%
weighting)
 Corporate
Responsibility (10%
weighting)
The Committee has
discretion to amend or
vary any weighting of
performance metrics over
the life of this
Remuneration Policy to
ensure they support the
long-term strategy of the
Society.
A claw back provision will
apply under which part or
all of the cash payment
can be recovered if there
is a restatement of the
financial accounts, a recalculation of performance
conditions or gross
misconduct by the
individual.
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Pensions
Purpose and link to strategy: To provide the same level of pension benefits to all other
colleagues in the Society.
Operation Assessment

Maximum Opportunity

Performance

Members of the Management
Executive who joined the Society
prior to July 2011 would have been
eligible to join the Defined Benefit
Scheme for all colleagues. This
scheme closed to all entrants and
future accrual on July 2011.

Under the Defined Benefit
scheme, final salary accrued
at 1/60th for each year of
service. This scheme was
closed to all entrants and
future accruals as at July
2011.

None

Following the closure of the Defined
Benefit pension scheme, the Society
has operated a Defined Contribution
pension scheme, which is
administrated by Standard Life. The
Management Executive receives the
same level of employer
contributions as all other members
of the plan.

Longer serving members of
the Management Executive
can have a maximum
employer contribution of 10%
into the Defined Contribution
Scheme (dependent on which
pension plan they had opted
into).

As a result of the introduction of the
Lifetime Allowance in 2006,
members of the Executive were
offered the option to withdraw from
pension provision and to receive a
salary supplement instead. Some
members of the Executive took this
option and receive a maximum
salary supplement of 10% as a
result of this arrangement.

As of March 2016 the new
‘Central’ pension plan was
introduced under the Society’s
Defined Contribution pension
scheme, with all previous
pension plans being closed to
new members.
Under the new ‘Central’
pension plan any new
members of the Management
Executive that have joined the
Society on or after the March
2016 will receive a maximum
of 3%.
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Benefits
Purpose and link to strategy: To offer a competitive benefits package that is flexible and
offers choice to colleagues.
Operation Assessment

Maximum Opportunity

Performance

Benefits provided include:

Company car or cash
allowance

Life insurance

Permanent health insurance

Private healthcare

An annual medical
examination

Colleague discount

Share incentive plan

A fuel benefit is also
provided for some
Executives.

The amount of cash allowance
under the Society’s car policy is
dependent on role: payments
range from £10,000 to £13,500.

None

Other benefits mentioned have
no predetermined maximum, as
the cost of providing these varies
from year to year.
Participation in tax-approved allemployee share plans is subject
to limits set by the relevant tax
authorities.

Notes to policy table:
Performance Measures and Targets
The Committee selected the performance measures because these are central to the
Society’s overall strategy and are key metrics used by the Management Executive to
oversee the operation of the business. The performance measures are determined annually
by the Committee following consultation with the Chief Executive and typically represent a
stretch to the Society’s targets.
The Committee is of the opinion that the performance measures for the annual incentive
scheme are commercially sensitive in respect of the Society and it would be detrimental to
the interests of the Society to disclose them before the start of the financial year. The
measures will be disclosed after the end of the relevant financial year in that year’s
remuneration report.
Changes to Remuneration Policy
A clawback provision was added to the incentive scheme policy, enabling the Society to
reclaim incentive payments in the circumstances of a re-statement of the financial accounts,
a re-calculation of performance conditions or gross misconduct by the individual.
As of March 2016 the new ‘Central’ pension plan was introduced under the Society’s Defined
Contribution pension scheme, with all previous pension plans being closed to new members.
Under the new ‘Central’ pension plan any new members of the Management Executive that
join the Society on or after the March 2016 will receive a maximum of 3%.
Pay Ratio
The table below shows the approximate ratio of the Chief Executive’s base salary and total
actual remuneration (pre and post-tax) relative to the lowest rate of pay in the Society, and
compares this with typical ratios in the wider PLC retail sector. As the table indicates, the
total pay ratio for the Society is significantly lower than in the PLC retail sector.
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Central England's CEO actual remuneration to lowest paid employee
total pay ratio is lower than the typical ratio in Retailers
Retailers

Chief Executive actual remuneration as a
mulitple of the lowest paid employee (full‐time)

80
70
60

Retailers
50

Central England

40
Central England

30
20
10
0
Pre‐tax

Post‐tax

Central England

Retailers comparator group

Central England CEO actual total remuneration for 2016-17. This
includes base salary, actual incentives paid, pension, and benefits.
The lowest paid figures for the Retail Group are approximate.

The pre-tax pay ratio between the highest and lowest paid colleague is 43 for the Society
compared to 76 in the wider retail PLC retail sector. The post-tax pay ratio between the
highest and lowest paid colleague is 29 for the Society compared to 50 for retail PLC’s.
Remuneration for Other Colleagues
The Society is committed to paying fair and competitive rates of pay and benefits to all
colleagues. As a responsible business, the Society has an aspiration to maintain pay rates
above the National Living Wage in respect of lower paid roles within a context of doing the
right things for both our colleagues and the Society’s members.
The Committee are mindful of the pay and conditions of all employees below Executive level
when considering Executive pay.
All colleagues of the Society are entitled to base salary, pension and a package of benefits,
including share incentive plans, colleague discount and voluntary salary exchange benefits
such as childcare vouchers. Managers of the Society participate in a performance-based
annual incentive scheme, including all managers covered by the NACO agreement and retail
store managers.
In addition, all other Society colleagues, with the exception of the Management Executive,
are eligible to receive an annual Colleague Dividend based on the Society’s financial
performance. The payment of the Colleague Dividend is subject to Members’ approval at the
Annual Members’ Meetings.
New Executive Appointments
The remuneration package for any new members of the Management Executive would
include the same elements, and be subject to the same constraints as those of existing
members. Salaries will be set to reflect the individual’s role, responsibilities and experience
whilst taking into account the market rate.
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Where it is appropriate to offer a below median salary initially, the Committee has the
discretion to allow phased salary increases over a period of time whilst the individual
becomes fully established in post and performance is viewed as fully acceptable.
Loss of Office
The employment agreements for all members of the Management Executive and Society
Secretary, including the Chief Executive, are terminable on 12 months’ notice by the Society.
No contracts provide an entitlement to the payment of a pre-determined amount on
termination of employment in any circumstances.
The Management Executives’ employment agreements contain provisions for payment in
lieu of notice in respect of base salary and contractual benefits only. Termination payments
will be made in line with the terms agreed with NACO at the time and those stated in the
Management Executives contracts.
Upon termination no payment under the annual incentive scheme will be paid under the
scheme rules unless employed on the date of payment or the reason for termination is due
to retirement, death, disability, redundancy or any other circumstances at the Committee’s
discretion. Anyone deemed by the Committee as a ‘good leaver’ will be entitled to an
incentive pro-rated to the period of service during the relevant financial year. The Committee
has the discretion to reduce the entitlement of a ‘good leaver’ in line with performance and
the circumstances of the termination.
Under plan rules upon termination any unvested long-term incentive awards will lapse
except for ‘good leavers’, retirement, death, disability, redundancy or any other
circumstances at the Committee’s discretion. LTIP vesting for anyone deemed by the
Committee as a ‘good leaver’ will be pro-rated to reflect the individual’s length of service.
Employment Contracts
All members of the Management Executive and the Society Secretary, including the Chief
Executive, are entitled to 12 months’ notice as described above.
Dates of appointments to the Management Executive are included in the Executive Total
Earnings table displayed further on in this report.
Committee Discretions
The Committee abides by the Policy for all components of the remuneration package (unless
otherwise stated), however, has discretion when agreeing and recommending the
components of a settlement agreement for a member of the Management Executive.
The Committee operates the Society’s annual incentive and long-term incentive plans
according to their respective rules. To ensure the efficient administration of these plans, the
Committee has certain operational discretions. These include:


Agreeing the participants in the plans on an annual basis



Determining the timing of grants of awards and/or payments



Determining the quantum of awards and/or payments (within the limits set out in the
Policy table above)



Making the appropriate adjustments required in certain circumstances (for example,
change of control and restructuring events)



Determining ‘good’/’bad’ leaver status for incentive plan purposes and applying the
appropriate treatment
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Undertaking the annual review of weighting of performance measures, and setting
targets for the annual incentive plan and long-term incentive plan from year to year

If an event occurs which results in the annual incentive plan or long-term incentive plan
performance conditions and/or targets being deemed no longer appropriate (for example, a
material acquisition or divestment) the Committee has the authority to adjust accordingly the
measures and/or targets and alter weightings, provided that the revised conditions or targets
are not materially less difficult to satisfy.
The Implementation Report
This section of the report explains how the Remuneration Committee has applied its
Remuneration Policy during the 2016/17 financial year. It contains a summary of how the
remuneration of the Management Executive and Society Secretary, including the Chief
Executive, has varied dependent on Society performance and full details of the remuneration
received by members of the Executive during 2016/17.
Executive Total Earnings
The following table shows a single total figure of remuneration in respect of qualifying
service for the 2016/17 financial year for each member of the Management Executive and
Society Secretary, together with comparative figures for 2015/16. Details of Board Director
fees are set out in a separate table on page 45.
Executive Employment Date of appt
commenced
to
Executive

Martyn
Cheatle
Chief
Executive
Tony
Carroll
Deputy
Chief and
Trading
Executive
David
Grady
Corporate
Services
Executive

Basic
salary

Taxable Incentive2 Vested Pension
1
3
Benefits4
Benefits
LTIP

2016/17
Total

2015/16
Total5

02/09/2001 02/09/2001 £501,454 £14,518 £125,363 £29,785 £43,974 £715,094 £688,655

23/02/1987 18/08/2005 £376,090 £22,252 £94,022 £22,339

£0

£514,703 £496,172

12/07/2010 12/07/2010 £214,200 £9,909 £53,550 £10,922 £14,385 £302,966 £297,123

Tracey Orr
Support
Services
Executive

23/07/1984 10/03/2003 £189,720 £17,225 £47,430 £10,154 £17,046 £281,575 £273,917

James
Watts
Society
Secretary

01/07/1986 04/09/2011 £122,324 £10,761 £30,581 £7,266 £12,242 £183,174 £177,363
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Notes:
1

Taxable Benefits include the provision of a car or a cash alternative, fuel and private
healthcare.

2

The annual incentive payment relates to cash payments due to be paid under the 2016-17
scheme of 25% and does not include any payments received relating to previous financial
years. An annual incentive payment of 25% was paid during the financial year in relation to
the performance of the relevant metrics for the 2015/16 financial year.

3

LTIP award relates to cash payments due to be paid under the 2014-2017 long-term
incentive plan of 6.21%. An LTI payment of 4.38% was paid in the financial year in relation
to the performance of the relevant metrics over the three years ended in January 2016.

4

Pension benefit figures show either; the value of contribution made by the Society to the
individual’s defined contribution pension arrangement, or the value of salary supplement in
lieu of pension contributions.

5

In line with best practice, the figures included in the above table are reflective of
remuneration that has been earned during the year, including any deferred payments that
are due to be paid in 2017-18 i.e. annual incentive scheme payments. Therefore the total
earnings for the financial year 2015-16 have been re-calculated to reflect this new
methodology in order to show a true comparison of what was earned during the financial
years rather than what had been paid during the financial years as previously used in the
2015-16 annual report.

Outstanding LTIP Awards
The table below summarises the principal terms of the conditional LTIP awards that are
currently outstanding.
Award

2015/16

Vesting
Date

Maximum
Award

Performance
Measure

How measured

Weighting

Trading
Profit

Cumulative trading profit relative to the
appropriate 3 years of the 5-year plan

70%

Customer
Service
Colleague
Engagement

Measured through customer satisfaction
surveys
Measured through the Society’s annual
colleague survey

10%

Corporate
Responsibility

Measured through BITC

10%

January 2018

2016/17

January 2019

2017/18

January 2020

25% of salary
at the time of
the award
being granted

10%

Members of
Executive eligible
for an award
Martyn Cheatle
Tony Carroll
David Grady
Tracey Orr
James Watts

Loss of Office Payments
No compensation for loss of office was paid to any Executive during the year.
Payments to Past Executives
No payments were made to former Executives during the year.
Executive External Directorships
The below named members of the Executive hold the following directorships:
Executive

Role

Company

Date of
Appointment

Martyn Cheatle1
Chief Executive

Director

Federal Retail and Trading Services Ltd

October 2014

Director

Thomas Cook Co-operative Travel Ltd

October 2011
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David Grady
Corporate
Services
Executive

Director2

Tracey Orr4
Support
Services
Executive

Chair and
Director

Elected
Independent3
Society Member

Anglia Home Furnishings Limited
(‘AHF’)5

June 2014

The Co-operative Group National
Members’ Council

April 2015

Co-operative Employers Association

April 2012

Selly Oak School, Trust Body
Committee
Member

May 2016

Notes to Table
1

Martyn Cheatle receives no remuneration in respect of these appointments

2

David Grady receives no remuneration in respect of these appointments

3

The Council remunerates the Society to the value of £3,000 per annum

4

Tracey Orr receives no remuneration in respect of these appointments

5

This appointment is in accordance with the Society’s investment in AHF.
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Board Director Fees
This section of the Report provides details of the fees, expenses and benefits for Directors of
the Society.
In accordance with the Society’s rules, the members are required to approve the level of
fees paid to the Society’s directors, and that this should be done, at a minimum, at least
every three years.
A revised basis of remuneration was approved by the Members at the Interim Members
Meeting held in October 2016; with annual increases in line with the National Association of
Co-operative Officials (NACO) awarded to management grades.
Board Director Fees
Board / Committee

Role

Fees
2016/17

Fees
2015/16

Board

President

£15,522

£15,354

Vice-President

£11,642

£11,515

Director

£7,761

£7,677

Pension Corporate Trustee Board

Trustee director

£970

£959

Audit & Risk Committee

Committee member

£775

£767

Remuneration Committee

Committee member

£324

£321

Rules & Practices Committee

Committee member

£382

£63 per meeting
(equating to £378 pa)

Search Committee

Committee member

£382

Conduct Committee

Committee member

£127

£63 per meeting
(equating to £378 pa)
£63 per meeting
(equating to £126 pa)

Community Dividend Selection
Committee

Committee member

£120

£20 per meeting
(equating to £80 pa)

Other working groups

Committee member

£20 per meeting

£20 per meeting

Expenses
Directors are reimbursed all reasonable expenses incurred while carrying out their duties for
the Society. In addition, delegation fees (of £35 for up to five hours or £70 for five hours or
more; including travel time) are payable per day where Directors are formally appointed to
represent the Society at pre-approved events, such as Co-operative Congress and the
Co-operative Retail Conference.
Benefits
The Society’s colleague discount scheme is available to Directors and their partners.
Employee Directors are also entitled to other benefits, such as pension membership, as per
their terms and conditions of employment with the Society.
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Directors’ Remuneration Table
The table below lists the fees paid to the Directors of the Society who served during the year
under review:
Fees
Director

2016/17

2015/16

Maria Lee (President)

£17,673

£16,823

Elaine Dean (Vice-President)

£12,213

£12,080

Jane Avery*

£9,640

£5,536

Richard Bickle

£9,160

£8,489

Sean Clothier

£7,770

£7,677

David Ellgood

£7,770

£7,677

Max Hunt

£9,301

£8,322

Marta Mayhew

£7,766

£7,677

Martyn McCarthy

£8,542

£7,145

Tanya Noon

£8,020

£5,846

Sue Rushton*

£8,243

£8,004

Paul Singh

£9,088

£9,094

Graeme Watkins

£9,193

£8,355

Rachel Wilkinson

£8,630

£6,956

* Fees include compensation for loss of income.
Other Payments
No additional payments, other than the Board Director fees and relevant expenses, were
made to Directors during the year.
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Tenure
In accordance with the Society’s Rules, the normal period of office for elected Directors is
three years which expires at the conclusion of the final members’ meeting at the end of their
three year term. Directors cannot serve for more than nine consecutive years without a
break of service of at least one year. In addition, the Board may appoint up to two
Independent Non-Executive Directors whose length of appointment is determined by the
Board. Independent Non-Executive Directors are remunerated on the same basis as the
elected Directors. Any such appointments are subject to annual review by the Board and
are submitted for ratification at a meeting of the members of the Society.
External Directorships and other Relevant Appointments
Director

Role

Organisation

Jane Avery

Director and Employee

CASE Limited

Director

Leicester Rape Crisis

Director

Revolver Co-operative Limited

Director

Birmingham Co-operative Film Society Limited

Director and Secretary

Friends of the Earth (Birmingham) Limited

Director

Co-operative Press Limited

Director and Chair

Co-operative Press Limited

Director and Vice Chair

RamsTrust

Elected Independent
Society Member

The Co-operative Group National Members’ Council
(from Co-operative Press Ltd)

Maria Lee

Elected Independent
Society Member

The Co-operative Group National Members’ Council

Tanya Noon

Director

RamsTrust

Director

Revolver Co-operative Limited

Elected Member

The Co-operative Group National Members’ Council
and member of The Senate (as an individual member
of The Co-operative Group)

Director

Co-operatives UK Limited

Non-Executive Director

Fry Housing Trust

Director and employee

R W Legal Limited

Director

Catalyst Science Discovery Centre and Museum
Trust Ltd (registered charity)

Company Secretary

The Landing at Mediacity UK Limited

Company Secretary

Cheshire Shutters Limited

Company Secretary

Intoafrica UK Limited

Richard Bickle

Elaine Dean

Paul Singh

Rachel
Wilkinson
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Audit & Risk Committee Report
Paul Singh
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee
I am pleased to introduce the report of the Audit & Risk Committee which details the role of
the Committee and the work it has undertaken during the year.
The Co-operatives UK Corporate Governance Code for Consumer Co-operatives requires
the Board of Directors to review the effectiveness of the Society’s system of internal control.
This review covers all controls including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management.
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the Society’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Management
Executive is responsible for the implementation, day-to-day operation and management of
the Society’s system of internal control.
The Audit & Risk Committee is a sub-committee of the Board whose primary role is to:


Monitor the integrity of the Society’s financial statements, including its annual and interim
reports, together with any significant financial reporting judgements contained in the
financial statements.



Consider reports from the Management Executive, internal audit and external audit on
the systems of internal control and any material control weaknesses.



Discuss with Management Executive the actions taken on problem areas identified in
these reports or by the Board.



Review the effectiveness of the risk management process and ensure significant risk
issues are referred to the Board for consideration so that appropriate steps can be taken
to minimise such risks to the Society.



Consider the effectiveness of the operation of the internal audit function.



Consider the appointment of external auditors and in conjunction with management
agree the nature and scope of the external audit review.



Review the external audit management letter and the management response to the
report.



Review the Society’s whistleblowing procedures to ensure arrangements are in place for
employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial
reporting or other matters.

The Audit & Risk Committee also has a duty to discuss issues and reservations arising from
the Society’s audit and any matter the Auditor may wish to discuss, if necessary in the
absence of any management.
In addition, the Audit & Risk Committee carries out a periodic self-evaluation so as to ensure
that the remit set by the Board of Directors is being fully satisfied. In accordance with its
Terms of Reference, the remit of the Audit & Risk Committee is reviewed by the Board at
least every three years, so as to ensure that it fully meets best practice in corporate
governance.
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Members of the Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee comprises four Directors; the normal term of office is two years.
The President, Vice-President and Employee directors are precluded from serving on the
Committee.
The Directors who served on the Audit & Risk Committee during the year were:
Committee member

Date of
appointment

Committee meetings
held during 2016/17

Committee meetings
attended during
2016/17

Paul Singh
Chair of the
Committee

Jun 2014

6

6

Martyn McCarthy
Committee Member

Mar 2015

6

6

Graeme Watkins
Committee Member

July 2015

6

6

Richard Bickle
Committee Member

July 2015

6

6

Audit & Risk Committee meetings were also attended by:
Corporate Services Executive – David Grady
Head of Finance – Louise McFadzean
Head of Risk and Compliance – Paul Fairhurst
Internal Audit Manager – Ian Boston
Society Secretary – James Watts or in his absence, the Assistant Society Secretary
Representatives from the Society’s Auditor – Deloitte LLP
Attendance by Society management, from time to time and as required.

Committee’s Activities 2016/17

Meeting
March

Review of the transition to FRS 102 reporting.
Review of the draft Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year
ended 23 January 2016 and ancillary documentation, including the Society’s
Treasury and Taxation reports.
Received reports relating to Risk Management and Compliance matters,
Internal Audit and a review of the Society’s arrangements in respect of
professional consultants and advisors.

March

Final review of the Society’s Annual report and Financial Statements for the
year ended 23 January 2016, with a formal recommendation to the Board.

April

As delegated by the Board, formal approval of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements for the year ended 23 January 2016 and ancillary
documentation.
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June

Review of the arrangements for the Society’s interim report to members,
received reports relating to Risk Management and Compliance matters and
Internal Audit.

September

Review of the Society’s financial accounts for the 28 weeks ended 6 August
2016. Received reports relating to Risk Management and Compliance
matters and Internal Audit.
Received the Audit Planning report from the External Auditor covering the
audit for the Society’s financial year ending January 2017.

December

Received an update on the Society’s Shared Service strategy. Review of
external audit of the Society’s IT arrangements. Received reports relating to
Risk Management and Compliance matters and Internal Audit.
Review of the 2017 – 2019 Internal Audit strategy.

In line with corporate governance best practice and in accordance with the Committee’s
Terms of Reference the Committee met with the external Auditor, Deloitte, in private session
without the presence of management twice during the year. There were no matters of
significance to report.
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Search Committee
Maria Lee
Chair of the Search Committee
I am pleased to introduce the report of the Search Committee which details the role of the
Committee and the work it has undertaken during the year.
The Search Committee is a sub-committee of the Board whose primary role is to:


Keep the effectiveness of the Board under review by ensuring the composition of the
Board provides an appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity to provide
effective leadership and oversight of a society of the size and complexity of Central
England Co-operative;



Ensure the integrity of the nomination process for the appointment of Independent NonExecutive Directors (INEDs). This includes leading the selection process and
recommendation to the Board.



Ensure that an appropriate performance monitoring process is in place and completed
for co-opted INEDs, with the findings reported to the Board.



Inform the Secretary of any skills deficiencies on the Board and ensure that the
necessary training is provided.



Inform (as necessary) the membership of any identified skills gaps, and seek to attract
those members with the requisite qualities to come forward for election;



Make recommendations to the Board in terms of the membership of the Audit & Risk
and Remuneration committees, and any other Board committees as appropriate giving
due consideration to the role requirements.



Consider succession planning for directors and INEDs in the course of its work, taking
into account the challenges and opportunities facing the Society and the skills and
expertise needed on the Board in the future. Make any recommendations to the Board
accordingly.

Members of the Committee
The Search Committee comprises the Board President and three Directors, who can serve
on the Committee for a period of up to two years – which may be extended for a maximum
further period of up to two years, provided the Director still meets the criteria for membership
of the Committee.
The Directors who served on the Search Committee during the year were:
Committee
member

Date of
appointment

Committee
meetings held
during 2016/17

Committee meetings
attended during
2016/17

Maria Lee
Chair of the
Committee

Sept 2014

6

6

Richard Bickle
Committee Member

Sept 2014

6

5

Max Hunt
Committee Member

Sept 2014

6

6
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Tanya Noon
Committee Member
Paul Singh
Committee Member

June 2016

4

4

Term on the
Committee ended
June 2016

2

2

Search Committee meetings were also attended by:
Chief Executive – Martyn Cheatle
Support Services Executive – Tracey Orr
Society Secretary – James Watts or in his absence, the Assistant Society Secretary

Committee’s Activities 2016/17

Meeting
March

Review of INEDs’ performance appraisals and recommendation, to the
Board, regarding reappointment.

March

Setting of the INEDs’ 2016 objectives. Review and consideration of the
appraisal arrangements in respect of the Chief Executive and Society
Secretary.

July

Review and recommendation to the Board regarding sub-committee
appointments. Agreement of the Committee’s forward agenda.

August

Review of INED and elected director performance appraisal framework.
Review of member democratic participation in elections to the Board and
activity to strengthen member engagement. Review of the Vice President’s
role specification.

September

Review of the Board evaluation framework. Review of potential
communication channels for attracting member candidates to stand for
election to the Board.

January

Review of INED appraisal timetable. Review of Board evaluation
questionnaire.
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Rules & Practices Committee
Maria Lee
Chair of the Rules & Practices Committee
I am pleased to introduce the report of the Rules & Practices Committee which details the
role of the Committee and the work it has undertaken during the year.
The Rules & Practices Committee is a sub-committee of the Board whose primary role is to:


Review and monitor the Rules of the Society.



Review the Society’s constitution and make recommendations on any changes as
appropriate.



Review and consider any matters referred to the Committee by the Board.



Review the Society’s compliance with the Co-operative UK’s Corporate Governance
Code for Consumer Co-operative Societies.

Members of the Committee
The Rules & Practices Committee comprises the Board President and three Directors, one
of whom should be an independent non-executive director, who can serve on the Committee
for a maximum of nine consecutive years (subject to being re-elected to the Board every
three years and re-appointed to the Committee every two years).
The Directors who served on the Rules & Practices Committee during the year were:
Committee member

Date of
appointment

Committee meetings
held during 2016/17

Committee meetings
attended during
2016/17

June 2014

6

6

Term on the
Committee
ended July 2016

4

4

Elaine Dean
Committee Member

June 2014

6

5

Graeme Watkins
Committee Member

July 2016

2

1

Rachel Wilkinson
Committee Member

March 2015

6

5

Maria Lee
Chair of the
Committee
Richard Bickle
Committee Member

Rules & Practices Committee meetings were also attended by:
Society Secretary – James Watts
Assistant Society Secretary – Michael Tavener
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Committee’s Activities 2016/17
Meeting
February
April
December

January

Meetings were held during February and April 2016 focused on the revision of
the Society’s Rule Book, which was put to members for approval at Special
Meeting(s) held at the conclusion of the Annual Members’ Meeting(s) held in
April 2016.
Review of Membership & Community Councils’ Terms of Reference. Review
of the Directors’ Code of Conduct. Overview of the actions following the Rules
revision exercise.
Review the Society’s compliance with the Co-operative UK’s Corporate
Governance Code for Consumer Co-operative Societies for the financial year
ended 28 January 2017.

As detailed above, the substantive work of the Committee during 2016 was oversight of the
Rules revision exercise which, as detailed in the report of the Committee contained within
the Society’s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 23 January 2016, had the
stated aim of producing a refreshed constitutional document with improved presentation,
structure and ease of use.
The Board of Directors’ welcomed the approval and adoption of the new Rule book by the
members at the Special Meeting(s) held in April 2016. The Board wishes to record its
thanks to all colleagues who assisted in the Rules revision exercise, with special reference
to Sue Vaughan, Executive Assistant, who played a key role in the process.
Special Members’
Meeting April 2016

Adoption of New Rule Book
For

Against

Abstentions*

873

55

13

*Abstentions are not recognised as a vote ‘for’ or ‘against’ and are not included when calculating whether a
motion has been carried.
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The Conduct Committee
Elaine Dean
Chair of the Conduct Committee
I am pleased to introduce the report of the Conduct Committee which details the role of the
Committee.
The Conduct Committee is a sub-committee of the Board whose primary role is to:


Consider all complaints or allegations made against any Director of the Board that they
have acted in a manner inconsistent with or in contravention of:
-

Directors Code of Conduct
Directors Conflicts of Interest Policy
Directors Communication Policy
Directors Confidential Information Policy
Canvassing Code of Practice



Consider all serious complaints or allegations made against a candidate standing for
election to the Board of Directors that they have acted in a manner inconsistent with or
in contravention of the Canvassing Code of Practice, as referred to the Committee by
the Society Secretary as the Society’s Returning Officer.



Consider all serious complaints or allegation made against an elected member of the
Membership & Community Council.

Members of the Committee
The Conduct Committee comprises not less than four Directors. The normal term of office is
two years. The President is precluded from serving on the Committee.
The Directors who served on the Conduct Committee during the year were:
Committee member

Date of appointment

Elaine Dean
Chair of the Committee

Oct 2014

Dave Ellgood
Committee Member

July 2016

Max Hunt
Committee Member

Term on the Committee
ended July 2016

Paul Singh
Committee Member

Oct 2014

Graeme Watkins
Committee Member

Oct 2014

Rachel Wilkinson
Committee Member

March 2015

Conduct Committee meetings are also attended by the Society Secretary, James Watts and
the Support Services Executive, Tracey Orr.
The Committee met three times during the year to consider administrative and procedural
matters only.
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Other Committees Attended by Directors
Directors are also appointed to the Society’s Member & Community Councils (‘MCCs’) which
in addition to attending meetings involves participating in the MCCs’ events and activities.
The appointed Directors to the MCCs during the year were:
Central MCC

Eastern MCC

Western MCC










Jane Avery
Elaine Dean

Marta Mayhew
Graeme Watkins

Richard Bickle
Dave Ellgood

In addition, Elaine Dean (Chair), Maria Lee, Richard Bickle and Dave Ellgood served on a
Membership and Community Working Group which was established during the year to
review the MCCs and the Society’s wider Membership & Community strategy.
Three Directors serve on the Society’s Community Dividend Selection Committee. The
Committee meets quarterly to review grant applications. The Directors who served on the
Community Dividend Selection Committee during the year were:





Jane Avery
Richard Bickle (to June 2016)
Maria Lee
Sean Clothier (from July 2016)

The Community Dividend Selection Committee met four times during the year. The
Committee is also attended by the Assistant Society Secretary and management
representatives.
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Risk
The Society operates a risk management process, which identifies the key risks facing each
part of the business and reports to the Management Executive and Audit & Risk Committee
on how these risks are being managed. Regular self-assessment audits are carried out
across the business and these self-assessments are validated on a sample basis.
The Society's Internal Audit department performs independent reviews of operational and
financial control procedures across the business. The Risk & Compliance team is
accountable for ensuring the Society identifies and responds appropriately to the risks it
faces, reporting formally to the Society’s Risk Management Committee which in turn is
accountable to the Board, via the Audit & Risk Committee, for the appropriate management
of risk. There is a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks faced by the Society, which operated during the year under review and up to
the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. This process, which
includes the prioritisation of key risks, is regularly reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee
on behalf of the Board.
The Risk & Compliance team also has operational responsibility for Health & Safety
management and Loss Prevention. The Risk & Compliance department works closely with
the Internal Audit function in order to provide an integrated approach to the prevention,
detection and reduction in losses arising from identified risks. Progress against management
action plans to overcome internal control weaknesses and business risks, is monitored and
reported to the Audit & Risk Committee.
Society management recognise the risks attendant on all areas of business resulting from
operating in increasingly competitive market places and continue to review processes and
procedures with the objective of ensuring effective controls are maintained, overcoming any
identified weaknesses and achieving business efficiencies. Where problems do arise
positive action is taken to implement appropriate control mechanisms.
Accordingly the Board of Directors confirm that the effectiveness of the system of control for
the year commencing 24 January 2016 and ending on 28 January 2017 has been reviewed
in line with the criteria set out in Corporate Governance Code for Consumer Co-operatives.
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Society’s risk management process is closely linked to the Society’s long term strategy.
Risk is an inherent part of doing business. The management of these risks is based on a
balance of risk and reward determined through careful assessment of both the potential
likelihood and impact. Consideration is given to both financial as well as reputational impact.
Each principal risk and uncertainty is considered in the context of how it relates to the
achievement of the Society’s strategic objectives. The risk assessment process includes
consideration of both the gross and net risk, where gross risk reflects the risk exposure and
risk landscape before considering the mitigations in place, and net risk being the residual
risk after mitigations.
The Society considers the key risks faced by the business to be in the following areas:


Business Continuity



Business Strategy and Change



Colleague engagement, capability and succession



Co-operative values & principles



Data



Finance and Treasury
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Health & Safety



Pensions



Trading



Regulatory and Legislation Compliance

Other Corporate Matters
Political Donations
The Society welcomes into membership people who use its services and subscribe to the
values and principles of the co-operative movement, irrespective of their personal religious or
political beliefs or personal characteristics.
During the course of the year Central England Co-operative’s long-standing affiliation to the
Co-operative Party was maintained to secure a co-operative voice in the political arena in
furtherance of the Society’s, and the movement's, wider interests. This comprised paying a
national subscription and also funding and participating in Society Co-operative Party
Councils in our trading area.
The Group Income Statement for the 53 weeks ended 28 January 2017 (Note 7 to the
accounts)
report
that
£119,000
(2015/16:
£125,000)
was
paid
to
the
Co-operative Party during the year. This includes support at national level and grants to the
four Society Party Councils.
As part of the Society’s new Rule Book approved by members in April 2016, procedures were
adopted ensuring that members have a say in the Society's political funding arrangements.
Accordingly, at the Society’s Interim Members’ Meeting(s) held in October 2016 the following
resolution was proposed and approved by the members.
For the Society to set aside funding for political purposes in furtherance of
Co-operative values and principles amounting to 0.6% of trading profit (to not
exceed £130,000 per annum) for each of the next three financial years ending
January 2018, January 2019 and January 2020.
For

Against

Abstentions*

599

215

82

*Abstentions are not recognised as a vote ‘for’ or ‘against’ and are not included when calculating whether a
motion has been carried.

Withdrawable Share Capital
The Society has adopted a Code of Practice on Withdrawable Share Capital. Under the
Code, all those joining the Society or members investing through their share accounts are
reminded in written documentation that share capital is risk capital. A copy of the full Code
can be obtained from the Secretary and the Board takes this opportunity to state that, at
present, the risk associated with members’ withdrawable share capital is extremely low,
given the strength of the Group Statement of Financial Position published with this report.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the Society’s financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) including FRS 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. Under
Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Society and of the profit or loss of the Society for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors are required to:


select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;



make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;



state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;



prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Society will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the Society’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Society and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Co-operative & Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Society and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Society’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Society’s auditors are unaware and they have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Society’s auditors are aware of that information.
Board Certification
These financial statements are hereby signed on behalf of the Board of Directors pursuant to
the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.

Maria Lee, President

Martyn Cheatle, Chief Executive

Elaine Dean, Vice President

James Watts, Secretary

24 March 2017
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017
1. General information
Central England Co-operative Limited is a registered co-operative society domiciled in England and
Wales. The address of the Society's registered office is Central House, Hermes Road, Lichfield,
Staffordshire WS13 6RH.
2. Basis of preparation
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are
considered material in relation to the Group financial statements.
Statement of compliance
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and
Communities Benefit Act 2014 and applicable United Kingdom accounting standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102, 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland'.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except for modification
to the revaluation of certain land and buildings; and to fair value for certain financial instruments,
funeral bonds and investments as specified in the accounting policies below. The financial statements
are presented in pounds sterling and amounts have been rounded to the nearest £’000.
Accounting date
The current period is for the 53 weeks ended 28 January 2017 (2016: 52 weeks ended 23 January
2016).
Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Central England Co-operative
Limited and all its subsidiaries. Central England Co-operative Limited has not presented its own
financial statements as part of these Group financial statements as these are filed separately.
Going concern
The directors are required to assess whether the Society has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have been prepared on the
assumption that the Society remains a going concern.
The Society currently meets its day to day working capital requirements from its cash reserves and
bank facilities and is forecast to stay within the current bank facilities for the foreseeable future. The
bank facilities consist of a revolving credit facility of £40,000,000 and a bank overdraft of £10,000,000
which is reviewed on an annual basis. There are two financial covenants attached to the revolving
credit facility which are tested on a quarterly basis, neither of which are expected to be breached in the
twelve months from the date of signing these financial statements. The repayment terms and details of
the revolving facility are detailed in note 15 to the financial statements.
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017
Going concern (continued)
The directors have reviewed the forecast of cash flows for the current period and the following period
and have formed the judgment that, at the time of approval of these financial statements, the Society
has sufficient resources with its current facilities to continue operating for the foreseeable future. On
this basis the directors continue to prepare the financial statements as a going concern.
3. Significant judgements and estimates
The Group makes judgements and assumptions concerning the future that impact the application of
policies and reported amounts. The resulting accounting estimates calculated using these judgements
and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results but are based on historical
experience and expectations of future events.
The critical judgements that have a significant impact in the financial statements, apart from those
involving estimates are discussed below:
Application of accounting policies
The Group has not identified any critical judgements in the application of accounting policies. Refer to
Principal accounting policies for further details of accounting policies applied.
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements are discussed below:
Impairment of goodwill and tangible fixed assets
The group assesses individual cash generating units or group of cash generating units for indication of
impairment. Impairment is recognised based on the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to
sell. The value in use calculation requires the estimation of the present value of discounted future cash
flows. Actual outcomes could vary from these estimates.
Impairment models are continually reviewed to ensure data and assumptions are appropriate. The
accuracy of any such impairment calculation will be affected by unexpected changes to the economic
situation, and assumptions which differ from actual outcomes. As such, judgement is applied when
determining the levels of provisioning.
In the 53 weeks ended 28 January 2017, impairment of £603,000 in relation to goodwill has been
recognised and an impairment of £2,184,000 has been recognised in relation to tangible fixed assets.
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017
Pension Costs
The Group operates a defined benefit scheme for its employees. The present value of the scheme’s
liabilities recognised at the reporting date and the net financing charge recognised in the income
statement are dependent on interest rates of high quality corporate bonds. Other key assumptions
within this calculation are based on market conditions or estimates of future events, including discount
rate, inflation assumptions and mortality rates, as set out in note 17. Any changes to assumptions used
will impact the carrying value of the retirement benefit obligation. As detailed in note 17, the retirement
benefit obligations are most sensitive to changes in the discount rate.
Supplier rebates
The Group receives supplier rebate income from the buying group, Federal Retail Trading Services
(FRTS). At year end, the Group is required to estimate supplier income due from annual agreements
for marketing costs and volume rebates which span across the year end date.
Estimates are required due to the fact that final confirmation of amounts due is often only received after
the year end date. All rebate income is received from third parties via the supplier agreements with
FRTS. The estimates for this income are prepared following discussions with FRTS throughout the year
and are regularly reviewed by senior management.
A forecast is received each year for the income that is expected and this is recognised in accordance
with paragraph 23.3 to FRS 102 across the period to which it relates.
Investment properties
Each year, the investment property portfolio is revalued at open market value by external valuers of
which approximately one fifth is inspected each year. The valuation is performed according to RICS
rules, using appropriate level of judgements that incorporate market conditions which are subject to
fluctuations. Future disposals of investment properties may vary from the valuation of £121.8m held as
at 28 January 2017.
4. Principal accounting policies
Gross sales
Gross sales is a memorandum disclosure and represents the total transaction value of all the Group's
services. The gross value of sales includes amounts recognised in respect of sales made on an agency
basis, principally relating to travel agents, foreign exchange bureau, concessions in department stores,
supermarkets and certain petrol stations.
Turnover
Turnover is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of VAT, discounts
and incentives.
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017
Retail turnover
Turnover through retail outlets are shown net of returns, employee discounts, vouchers and sales made
on an agency basis. Commission income is recognised in revenue based on the terms of the contract.
Wholesale turnover
Turnover from the provision of distribution services to third party independent Co-operative Societies
are recognised at the point when the customer has signed for the delivery of the goods.
Funeral turnover
Revenue from funeral operations comprises the amount recoverable from clients for the provision of
funerals, income from crematoria and other services, to the extent that those services have been
performed or goods supplied.
Revenue on pre-arranged funeral plans is recognised when the funeral is performed by the Group.
Income accrued on the original investment is recognised within Other Income.
The Group pays certain disbursements such as crematoria fees, cemetery fees, Ministers fees and
Doctors fees on behalf of clients. These amounts are recovered as part of the invoicing process.
However, these amounts are not included within turnover as they are simply passed on to clients at
cost.
Travel Commissions
Travel commissions are recognised at the point of sale.
Rental Income
Rental income is generated from the Group’s investment property portfolio, with receivables being
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term. The cost of lease incentives is recognised as a
reduction to rental income over the lease term on a straight line basis.
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Management Executive Incentive Scheme (MEIS)
The Group has a long-term scheme (MEIS) in place to incentivise the Management Executive within
the Society. An expense is recognised over the vesting period of three years based upon meeting
specific targets and objectives.
Exceptional Items
Exceptional items are disclosed separately as they are significant to the Group or non-recurring in
nature and require further explanation, such as transfer of engagements and costs arising from reorganisation of business.
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017
Investment Income
Interest receivable is accounted for on an accruals basis. Dividends are accounted for when the right to
receive is established.
Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders
The surplus shown in the income statement is not considered to be attributable solely to the members,
but also to various stakeholders including the Group’s employees, charitable institutions or other
organisations with objectives or purposes consistent with those of the Group.
Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders are recognised in accordance with the Group’s rules to
include approved dividends, member relations costs, subscriptions and grants to the Co-operative
Party. Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders are recognised in the income statement in the period
in which they are approved by the members.
Intangible Fixed Assets
Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of the
consideration of the business combination over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation, any
impairment losses and is amortised evenly over its useful economic life.
Computer software
Computer software and licences are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any provision
for impairment. Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life of
between three to ten years.
Investment properties
Certain of the Group’s properties are held for long-term investment. The investment properties are
initially recognised at cost, and are subsequently measured at market value. Investment properties are
revalued at least once every five years at open market values by external valuers. In all other years, all
investment property valuations are reviewed on a “desk-top” basis.
All surpluses and deficits arising on revaluation to market value are taken to the income statement. No
depreciation or amortisation is provided in respect of freehold investment properties and leasehold
investment properties with over 20 years remaining on the lease.
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than investment
properties, properties under development, assets in the course of construction and freehold land, at
rates calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their
expected useful lives on the following bases:
Freehold buildings: 2% - 10% per annum
Leasehold properties: Over the unexpired part of the lease
Plant & machinery, fixtures & fittings: 6.7% - 33.3% per annum
Petrol station decommissioning costs: 2% per annum
Funeral fleet vehicles and other transport: 10% - 50% per annum
Impairment
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount (higher of value in use or fair value less costs to sell). Impairment
losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash
generating units, and then to reduce the carrying value of other fixed assets.
Assets leased to the Group
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at the fair value of the leased assets (or if
lower, the present value of minimum lease payments) at the inception of the lease. The corresponding
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation using
the effective interest method so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance on
the remaining liability. The outstanding commitment is analysed between current and long term
liabilities. Assets held under finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets and are depreciated in
accordance with the Group’s normal accounting policy.
The aggregate benefit of lease incentives are recognised as a reduction to the expense recognised
over the lease term on a straight line basis.
Rentals due under operating leases are charged to income statement over the lease term on a straight
line basis.
Assets held for resale
Fixed assets are treated as held for resale when a decision has been taken by the Board that they are
to be disposed of and a binding sales agreement has been entered into. At this time, an impairment
review is carried out and assets are held for resale at the lower of their carrying value or estimated sale
proceeds less costs of selling.
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Investment in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements of the Society and entities
controlled by the Group (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in total
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate using account policies consistent with those of the parent. All intra-group transactions,
balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Investments
Investments in shares are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in the
income statement in the period in which they occur.
Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of manufactured goods comprises
materials, direct labour and appropriate overheads incurred in the normal course of business in
bringing the product to its current location and condition. Cost is calculated using the FIFO (first-in, firstout) method. Net realisable value is the price at which stocks can be sold in the normal course of
business after allowing for the costs of realisation.
Debtors
Debtors are measured at amortised cost less any impairment.
Creditors
Short term trade creditors are measured at amortised cost. Other financial liabilities including bank
loans are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs and are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Derivative financial instruments
The Group currently uses an interest rate SWAP instrument as part of an overall interest rate risk
management strategy. At the reporting date the interest rate SWAP is recognised at fair value, with
movement in fair value being recognised in the income statement.
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Taxation
Current tax
Current tax is accounted for on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Current tax is charged or credited to the income statement.
Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at
the reporting date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future
or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the reporting date.
A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis
of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable
profits against which to recover carried forward tax losses and from which the future reversal of
underlying timing differences can be deducted.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the
timing differences are expected to reverse based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged to
other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive
income respectively.
Funeral plans
Amounts received in advance for funeral plans are recorded at fair value as assets and liabilities on the
statement of financial position. The liability is apportioned into less than and more than one year based
upon the Society’s experience of funerals carried out under its pre-payment plans over the last five
years.
All money received for funeral plans taken out is paid into a contract for whole life insurance on the life
of the customer for the purpose of providing the funeral and disclosed within investments at market
value. This investment strategy complies with the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000.
Upon redemption of a funeral plan, the interest earned over the life of the plan is recognised in Other
Income.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the
obligation, and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material
provisions are determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, future cash flows. The unwinding
of the discount is recognised as interest payable in the income statement.
Holiday pay provision
The Group provides for the following short and long term liabilities:(i) Annual holiday pay provision
The Group recognises a provision for annual leave accrued by employees as a result of service
rendered in the current period, but has not been taken by the reporting date, and which employees are
entitled to carry forward and use within the next two months. The provision is measured at the total
salary cost payable and national insurance for the period of absence.
(ii) Holiday Banking Scheme provision
The scheme allows certain employees with a minimum of five years’ service, to bank up to five days of
their annual holiday entitlement. The accrual is evaluated based on the number of days banked, and
the current salary costs. Banked holiday can be redeemed at any point, therefore the liability is
considered short term.
(iii) Pre April 1998 holiday pay provision
For employees who commenced employment on or before 1 April 1998, the Group accrues for the cost
of outstanding holiday entitlement. These employees were required to accrue one year of their annual
holiday entitlement before taking any paid holiday. The required accrual is calculated by multiplying one
year of their annual holiday entitlement for each employee by their current daily pay rate and
discounting the value over the anticipated redemption period.
Onerous lease provision
Where the Group is committed to future rental payments on a property that are in excess of income
received, an onerous lease provision is made. The provision is discounted at the risk free rate.
Decommissioning provision
Provisions are made in respect of decommissioning obligations for petrol filling stations. The amounts
provided are based on the Group’s best estimate of the present value of costs to be incurred to
decommission the petrol tanks in the future.
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Pension costs
The Group currently operates a defined benefit pension scheme, the Central England Co-operative
Society Limited Pension Scheme. This Scheme was created by merging the Midlands Co-operative
Society Limited Employees’ Pension Scheme which closed to future accrual and new entrants on 30
July 2011 and the Anglia Regional Co-operative Society Limited Employees’ Superannuation Fund
which closed to future accrual on 14 August 2009.
The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee administered fund.
The Scheme is subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004. A valuation of
the Scheme is carried out at least once every three years to determine whether the Statutory Funding
Objective is met. As part of the process the Society agrees with the Trustees of the Scheme the
contributions to be paid to address any shortfall against the Statutory Funding Objective.
The most recent comprehensive actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 31 December
2014. The results of that valuation have been updated to 28 January 2017 allowing for cash flows in
and out of the Scheme and changes to assumptions over the period.
The deficit on the defined benefit scheme is recognised in full on the statement of financial position and
represents the difference between the fair value of the assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the reporting date.
Finance cost is recognised in the revenue account based on the interest on pension assets less the
interest on pension scheme liabilities.
Differences between the interest and actual return on assets, experience gains and losses and
changes in actuarial assumptions are included directly in the Other Comprehensive Income.
The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme. The contributions payable to the scheme in
respect of the accounting period are charged to the revenue account.
Share interest
The Group's members’ share capital maintains a fixed nominal value and attracts interest. Share
interest is disclosed as a movement in equity and within the reconciliation of movements in members’
funds.
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Note

2017
53 weeks
£'000

2016
52 weeks
£'000

926,830
(83,315)
843,515

928,366
(83,709)
844,657

805,769
(569,118)

806,847
(571,481)

236,651

235,366

(218,149)
1,513

(215,964)
1,373

Trading profit

20,015

20,775

Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Impairment of fixed assets
(Loss)/Profit on revaluation of investment properties
Exceptional items
4

367
(2,787)
(945)
(5,391)

1,307
(1,363)
4,815
(5,699)

OPERATING PROFIT

11,259

19,835

(69)
316
(5,281)
(3,864)

(268)
4,867
(6,830)
(4,159)

2,361

13,445

(4,191)

(4,682)

(1,830)

8,763

(2,085)

(5,675)

(3,915)

3,088

GROSS SALES (including VAT)
Less Value Added Tax
GROSS SALES (excluding VAT)
TURNOVER
Cost of sales

1
1

GROSS PROFIT
Administrative expenses
Other income

Loss on financial assets at fair value
Interest and dividends receivable
Other finance cost
Interest payable

2

25
5
17
6

PROFIT BEFORE PAYMENTS TO AND
ON BEHALF OF STAKEHOLDERS
Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders

7

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Taxation

8

RETAINED (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE
FINANCIAL PERIOD
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Note

Retained (loss)/profit for the period
Actuarial (losses)/gains on pension scheme

17

Movement on current tax
Movement on deferred tax
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period
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2017
53 weeks
£'000

2016
52 weeks
£'000

(3,915)

3,088

(63,384)

82,197

1,946
10,100

1,901
(17,434)

(55,253)

69,752

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 JANUARY 2017

Note
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks
Debtors: due within one year
Debtors: due after one year
Cash at bank and in hand

January 2017
£'000
£'000

9
10
11

CREDITORS: DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Creditors
14
Borrowings
15

35,150
15,363
30,869
17,872
99,254

39,411
16,854
21,309
14,291
91,865

(82,727)
(202)
(82,929)

(78,292)
(245)
(78,537)

NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions for liabilities and
charges
Net pension liability

16,325

13,328

564,189

535,742

(180,273)
(22,440)

(190,877)
(29,201)

16
17

NET ASSETS
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Non-distributable reserve
Revenue reserve

25,588
390,284
106,542
522,414

24,120
402,800
120,944
547,864

12
13
13

CREDITORS: DUE AFTER ONE YEAR
Creditors
14
Borrowings
15

January 2016
£'000
£'000

18
19
19

MEMBERS' FUNDS
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(220,078)

(202,713)

(18,958)
(157,915)

(18,651)
(92,183)

167,238

222,195

23,296
21,423
122,519

22,803
24,679
174,713

167,238

222,195

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

Note

Net cash generated from
operating activites

2017
53 weeks
£'000
£'000

20

2016
52 weeks
£'000
£'000

30,983

38,501

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of tangible assets
Purchase of tangible assets
Interest received
Dividends received from
trading investments
Purchase of business

9,444
(40,677)
316

16,541
(32,654)
210

(3,529)

4,667
(11,236)

(34,446)

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Draw down of bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Increase in share capital
Interest paid
Pension deficit funding
Repayment of finance lease obligations

(6,773)
52
(851)
(6,034)
(276)

7,000
296
(945)
(6,543)
(282)

Net cash flows from financing activities

(474)

(13,882)

3,581

5,865

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period

14,291

8,426

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

17,872

14,291

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
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Share
capital

Nondistributable
reserve
£'000

£'000
At 24 January 2015

Revenue
reserve

Total

£'000

£'000

22,550

25,203

104,638

152,391

Profit for the financial period

-

-

3,088

3,088

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gains on pension scheme
Movement on current tax
Movement on deferred tax
Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

82,197
1,901
(17,434)
69,752

82,197
1,901
(17,434)
69,752

511
(459)
201
22,803

4,815
(5,339)
24,679

(4,815)
5,339
(201)
174,713

511
(459)
222,195

Loss for the financial period

-

-

(3,915)

(3,915)

Other comprehensive losses
Actuarial losses on pension scheme
Movement on current tax
Movement on deferred tax
Total comprehensive loss for the period

-

-

(63,384)
1,946
10,100
(55,253)

(63,384)
1,946
10,100
(55,253)

714
(418)
197
23,296

(945)
(2,311)
21,423

945
2,311
(197)
122,519

714
(418)
167,238

Transfer of non-distributable reserves
Transfer of realised gains
Share capital contributions
Share capital withdrawals
Share interest
At 23 January 2016

Transfer of non-distributable reserves
Transfer of realised gains
Share capital contributions
Share capital withdrawals
Share interest
At 28 January 2017
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CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

1 Gross Sales and Turnover
Gross Sales
(excluding VAT)
2017
2016
53 weeks
52 weeks
£'000
£'000
Retail - Food
Retail - Fuel
Wholesale
Funeral
Travel
Other
Rent received from investment
properties
Total before transport
Transport
Total

Turnover
2017
53 weeks
£'000

2016
52 weeks
£'000

617,386
92,577
47,382
41,146
35,433
982

603,767
95,101
46,597
38,160
36,289
1,438

612,791
92,577
47,382
41,146
2,277
987

599,834
95,101
46,597
38,160
2,407
1,443

8,580
843,486
29
843,515

9,759
831,111
13,546
844,657

8,580
805,740
29
805,769

9,759
793,301
13,546
806,847

Turnover consists of sales made in the United Kingdom and Ireland. In the prior year, Transport
has been disclosed separately above following the disposal of the Group's multi-franchise motor
dealership operation in Lincoln and the closure of the specialist vehicle construction business.

Turnover analysed by category was as follows:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Sales of goods
Rendering of services
Commission
Rent received from investment properties

753,414
36,384
7,391
8,580
805,769
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2016
52 weeks
£'000
752,686
37,070
7,332
9,759
806,847

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

2 Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Bad debt provision
Operating lease rentals:
- Plant and machinery
- Land and buildings
Intangible assets (Note 9)
- Amortisation
- Impairment
Depreciation (Note 10)
- Owned assets
- Assets held under finance leases
- Impairment
Auditor's remuneration

2016
52 weeks
£'000

429

544

745
6,772

708
7,159

2,734
603

2,633
-

19,609
200
2,184
169

18,528
220
1,363
197

Fees payable to the Society's auditor
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of
the Group's annual statement
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for other services
to the Group
The audit fees of the Society's subsidiaries
Other audit fees
Total audit fees
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2016
52 weeks
£'000

75

62

94
169

105
30
197

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

3 Staff number and costs
2017
53 weeks
Number
The average number employed by the Group
(including directors) was:
Full-time
Part-time

3,258
5,418
8,676

2016
52 weeks
Number

3,254
5,385
8,639

The number of full time equivalent employees during the 53 weeks ended 28 January 2017 was
5,349 (2016: 5,550).
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Aggregate amounts paid in respect of:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defined contribution pension scheme costs

114,958
6,746
4,307
126,011

2016
52 weeks
£'000
112,865
6,557
4,509
123,931

The Management Executive and Society Secretary are the Society's key management personnel.
Further information on executive remuneration and Directors' fees are included on pages 31 to 47.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

4 Exceptional items
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Movement in onerous leases and provisions
Costs arising from the reorganisation of business
Anglia transfer of engagements
Other exceptional (credits)/costs

4,179
1,402
21
(211)
5,391

2016
52 weeks
£'000
180
4,565
787
167
5,699

The Group is committed to a number of onerous leases on sites. During the year, these provisions
have been re-assessed following business activity, including settlements and a review of leasing
options which gave rise to an increase in the provision of £4,179,000 (2016: £180,000).
During the year, the Society has undertaken reviews of its business, and support functions which
gave rise to costs of £1,402,000 (2016: £4,565,000) which include redundancy and personnel
costs, professional fees and site closure costs.
During 2014, Anglia Regional Co-operative Society Limited transferred its engagements to Central
England Co-operative Limited. Costs associated with the transfer of engagements amount to
£21,000 (2016: £787,000) and include integration costs associated with the pension scheme,
redundancy and other costs associated with the transfer of engagements.
Other exceptional (credits)/costs include a release of a bad debt provision and property provisions.
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5 Interest and dividends receivable
Note

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable
11

2017
53 weeks
£'000
209
107
316

2016
52 weeks
£'000
93
4,774
4,867

6 Interest payable
Note

15
Interest payable on bank loans
15
Interest payable on finance lease
Interest unwind on the Central Asset Reserve
16
Unwinding of discounted provisions

2017
53 weeks
£'000
721
65
2,656
422
3,864

2016
52 weeks
£'000
963
87
2,565
544
4,159

7 Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Member benefits
Membership & Community funding and other grants
Members' dividend
Total member distributions
Co-operative Party
Community dividend
Employee dividend

Page 81 of 104

372
530
1,903
2,805
119
208
1,059
4,191

2016
52 weeks
£'000
463
507
2,409
3,379
125
215
963
4,682

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

8 Taxation
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Current tax:
Provided on chargeable income and gains in the
period
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods

Deferred taxation:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustments in respect of prior periods
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance

Total taxation

2016
52 weeks
£'000

(1,946)
311
(1,635)

(1,901)
(1,901)

(48)
101
(503)
(450)

483
(6)
(4,251)
(3,774)

(2,085)

(5,675)

The standard rate of tax applied to reported profit on ordinary activities is 20.00% (2016: 20.18%).
A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 21% to 20% (effective from 1 April 2015) was
substantively enacted on 2 July 2013. A further reduction to 19% (effective from 1 April 2017) was
substantively enacted on 26 October 2015, and an additional reduction to 17% (effective from 1
April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016. This will reduce the Society’s future
current tax charge accordingly. The deferred tax asset at 28 January 2017 has been calculated
based on these rates.
There is no expiry date on timing differences, unused tax losses or tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

8 Taxation (continued)
Factors affecting the tax charge for the period
The tax assessed for the period is higher (2016: higher) than the effective rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 20.00% (2016: 20.18%). The differences are explained below:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
(Loss)/Profit before taxation

(1,830)

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by
standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.00%
(2016: 20.18%)
Effects of:
Fixed asset timing differences
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Income not taxable for tax purposes
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods
Adjustment to deferred tax charge in respect of prior
periods
Current tax credited directly to equity
Adjustment to deferred tax to average rate of 20.00%
Deferred tax not recognised
Tax charge for the period
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2016
52 weeks
£'000
8,763

366

(1,768)

(239)
(135)
246
311

(1,320)
(191)
982
-

101
(1,946)
(789)
(2,085)

(6)
(1,901)
(1,241)
(230)
(5,675)

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

9 Intangible fixed assets
Software
£'000
Cost
At 24 January 2016
Additions
Business combination (note 23)
Disposals
At 28 January 2017

Goodwill
£'000

Total
£'000

9,698
399
(38)
10,059

50,459
1,484
51,943

60,157
399
1,484
(38)
62,002

Amortisation
At 24 January 2016
Provided this period
Impairment
Disposals
At 28 January 2017

8,228
460
(24)
8,664

26,341
2,274
603
29,218

34,569
2,734
603
(24)
37,882

Net book value
At 28 January 2017

1,395

22,725

24,120

At 23 January 2016

1,470

24,118

25,588

In line with the Society’s accounting policies, an annual review of the carrying value of goodwill has
been undertaken which identified an impairment of £603,000 (2016: £nil).
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10 Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation
At 24 January 2016
Additions
Business combination
(note 23)
Transfers
Disposals
Revaluation
At 28 January 2017
Depreciation
At 24 January 2016
Provided this period
Impairment
Transfers
Disposals
Revaluation
At 28 January 2017

Investment
properties
£'000

Trade
properties
£'000

Plant &
machinery
£'000

Transport

Total

£'000

£'000

111,982
10,540

274,099
12,806

185,654
17,928

16,065
837

587,800
42,111

10,786
(6,700)
(4,779)
121,829

1,500
(10,786)
(836)
276,783

72
(11,786)
191,868

(1,049)
15,853

1,572
(20,371)
(4,779)
606,333

3,834
(3,834)
-

60,889
5,298
2,160
(3,834)
(265)
64,248

126,495
12,991
24
(10,828)
128,682

10,132
1,520
(1,049)
10,603

197,516
19,809
2,184
(12,142)
(3,834)
203,533

Net book value
At 28 January 2017

121,829

212,535

63,186

5,250

402,800

At 23 January 2016

111,982

213,210

59,159

5,933

390,284

Colliers International, independent qualified valuers, (Simon Summerby-Bent BSc (Hons) MRICS
and James Cubitt BSc (Hons) MRICS) have inspected and valued all investment properties as at
28 January 2017. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation –
Professional Standards January 2014 (the “Red Book”) prepared by the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (the "RICS").
These valuations have been incorporated into the financial statements and the resulting
revaluation adjustments have been taken to the income statement. The revaluations during the
period resulted in a revaluation loss of £945,000 (2016: revaluation gain of £4,815,000).
Tangible fixed assets with a carrying value of £52,148,000 (2016: £53,078,000) are pledged as
security for the Group’s bank loans.
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10 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
Assets in the course of construction included within trade properties amounts to £3,216,000 (2016:
£2,539,000). Assets under construction are not depreciated.
The Group no longer capitalises borrowing costs connected to the purchase of a fixed asset. The
cumulative value of finance costs previously capitalised and included within fixed assets (cost or
valuation) amounts to £1,380,000 (2016: £1,380,000).
Included within fixed assets are assets with a net book value of £542,000 (2016: £840,000) relating
to assets held under finance lease. Depreciation charged on these assets amounted to £200,000
(2016: £220,000) during the period.
Transfers arise to reflect the most appropriate class for each asset and include sites transferring
from trade to investment and sites transferring from investment to trade.
In line with the Group’s accounting policies, an impairment review of loss making units was
performed during the period and gave rise to an impairment of £2,184,000 (2016: £1,363,000).
Assets held for resale included within investment properties amount to £950,000 (2016: £nil).
Assets held for resale are not depreciated.
The carrying value of land and buildings comprises:
2017
£'000
Investment properties:
Freehold
Leasehold
Trade properties:
Freehold
Leasehold
Total properties:
Freehold
Leasehold
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2016
£'000

118,247
3,582
121,829

107,702
4,280
111,982

194,233
18,302
212,535

193,994
19,216
213,210

312,480
21,884
334,364

301,696
23,496
325,192

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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10 Tangible fixed assets (continued)
The historical cost of investment properties now included at valuation:
2017
£'000
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

2016
£'000
99,328
(12,024)
87,304

115,237
(14,831)
100,406

11 Investments
Fixed assets
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
The Co-operative Group Limited –
shares
Other societies – shares
Other societies – loans
Companies – quoted
Companies – not quoted
British Government – quoted
Other
Funeral plans

2,741
29
63
5,835
4
112,272
120,944

Interest earned on cash balances

2,677
25
63
731
5,835
5
4
97,202
106,542

Dividends/interest
2017
2016
£'000
£'000

107
21
128
188
316

107
4,667
4,774
93
4,867

In line with the Group’s accounting policies, quoted and unquoted shares have been revalued to
their fair values, which has generated a fair value profit of £15,000 (2016: loss of £418,000).
Quoted investments are based on active market rates.
All money received for funeral plans taken out before 2002 held in a separate trustee administered
bank account was transferred and paid into a contract for whole life insurance of the customer for
the purpose of providing the funeral.
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11 Investments (continued)
The following analysis shows the movement in the year on investments held during the period
ended 28 January 2017:
Cooperative
Group
Limited
£'000
Carrying amount
At 24 January 2016
Additions
Transfer from other
debtors
Disposal and redemptions
At 28 January 2017
Change in fair value
Net book value
At 28 January 2017

Other
Societies
£'000

Quoted
shares
£'000

Unquoted
shares
£'000

Funeral
plans
£'000

2,677
-

88
-

736
-

5,839
-

97,202
20,055

53
2,730
11

88
4

(736)
-

5,839
-

(6,018)
111,239
1,033

2,741

92

5,839

112,272

-

12 Stocks
2017
£'000
Goods for resale

2016
£'000
39,411

35,150

13 Debtors
Within one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
Trade debtors
Deferred tax
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

7,838
1,243
6,282
15,363
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7,471
873
8,510
16,854

After one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
30,869
30,869

21,309
21,309

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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13 Debtors (continued)
The deferred taxation asset comprises:
2017
£'000
Accelerated capital allowances
Capital gains
Pension scheme
Unutilised losses
Spread pension contributions
Business combinations
Other timing differences

2016
£'000
444
(5,201)
8,585
14,129
3,673
(485)
164
21,309

6,932
(3,783)
19,583
5,943
1,848
(529)
875
30,869

As a result of the Central Asset Reserve, the Society will receive a deduction against current tax of
£9.7m (2016: £9.4m over 2 years). Consequently a deferred tax asset of £1.8m (2016: £3.7m) has
been recognised at 28 January 2017.
There are no other unrecognised deferred tax assets or liabilities.

14 Creditors
Within one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
Trade creditors
Central Asset Reserve liability
Funeral plans
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Payments to and on behalf of
stakeholders

After one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000

33,772
6,400
8,908
5,854
6,146
19,487

34,308
6,400
9,877
4,461
4,809
17,418

85,432
105,300
145

89,320
88,893
2,060

2,160
82,727

1,019
78,292

190,877

180,273

The Group holds an interest rate swap with a principal value of £12,000,000 (2016: £12,500,000),
which matures on 22 January 2021. The interest rate swap is recorded at market value £122,000
(2016: liability of £37,000) and is included in other creditors.

Page 89 of 104

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

15 Borrowings
Within one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
Bank loan
Finance lease obligations

245
245

202
202

After one year
2017
2016
£'000
£'000
29,000
201
29,201

22,000
440
22,440

Interest payable on the bank loan for the 53 weeks ended 28 January 2017 was £721,000 (2016:
£963,000). Interest payable on finance lease obligations was £65,000 (2016: £87,000).
2017
£'000
Borrowings falling due within:
One year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Over five years

2016
£'000
245
220
22,218
2
22,685

202
144
29,057
29,403

The Society’s bank loan is a revolving credit facility of £40,000,000 (2016: £40,000,000) which is
repayable on 22 January 2021, £29,000,000 (2016: £22,000,000) of which was drawn down at the
year end. Interest cover and leverage ratio are covenants associated with the facility, with the
interest rate driven by the results of the leverage ratio.

16 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Onerous
leases
£'000
As at 24 January 2016
New provision created in the period
Charge to the income statement on
brought forward provision
Unwinding of discount
Utilised this period
Released this period
As at 28 January 2017

Discontinued
Other
operations
provisions
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

6,841
117

7,811
-

3,999
1,405

18,651
1,522

2,435
71
(720)
(68)
8,676

2,114
80
(2,307)
(783)
6,915

(1,853)
(184)
3,367

4,549
151
(4,880)
(1,035)
18,958
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16 Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)
The onerous lease provision represents an assessment of the costs to cover rent and rates for
leasehold premises where the Group is committed to future rental payments on properties that are
in excess of incomes received, taking account of the anticipated period until the leases are
assigned or reassigned. The assessment, which is undertaken at the end of each accounting
period, is made on a property by property basis. The provision is expected to be utilised within the
next 13 years (2016: 11 years).
The discontinued operations provision represents an estimate of amounts payable under contracts
relating to property costs, redundancy and computer costs which are expected to unwind in the
next 1 to 10 years.
Other provisions represent an assessment of costs associated with the re-organisation of the
business and site closures of £1.3m (2016: £2.3m), the decommissioning of petrol filling stations of
£0.4m (2016: £0.4m), property provisions of £1.3m (2016: £1.1m) and other provisions of £0.4m
(2016: £0.1m).

17 Employee benefits
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
Central England Co-operative Limited (the "Society") operates a defined benefit pension
arrangement called the Central England Co-operative Limited Pension Scheme (the "Scheme").
The Scheme provides benefits based on final salary and length of service on retirement, leaving
service or death. The Society also operates a defined contribution scheme but this is not included
in these disclosures.
The Scheme is subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004. A
valuation of the Scheme is carried out at least once every three years to determine whether the
Statutory Funding Objective is met. As part of the process the Society agrees with the Trustees of
the Scheme the contributions to be paid to address any shortfall against the Statutory Funding
Objective.
The most recent comprehensive actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 31
December 2014. The results of that valuation have been updated by an independent qualified
actuary to 28 January 2017 allowing for cash flows in and out of the Scheme and changes to
assumptions over the period.
The Society expects to contribute £3.0m to the Scheme during the 52 weeks ended 27 January
2018.
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17 Employee benefits (continued)
The Society implemented a pension deficit reduction arrangement (Central Asset Reserve) which
has resulted in additional scheme assets of £121.095m (2016: £109.572m) being recognised
within the valuation at 28 January 2017. The scheme assets are underpinned by way of
subordinated pledges given by Central Midlands Estates Limited, a subsidiary of the Society.

The following amounts are recognised in the balance sheet:

Fair value of assets
Present value of funded obligations
Deficit in the scheme

2017
£'000

2016
£'000

687,707
(845,622)
(157,915)

595,678
(687,861)
(92,183)

The following amounts are recognised in the Income Statement:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Administration cost
Interest on liabilities
Interest on assets
Other Finance Cost

1,546
27,545
(23,810)
5,281

2016
52 weeks
£'000
1,236
25,982
(20,388)
6,830

The remeasurements over the period are as follows:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
(Gain)/Loss on scheme assets in excess of interest
Experience gains on liabilities
Losses from changes to demographic assumptions
Losses/(Gains) from changes to financial
assumptions
Total remeasurement
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2016
52 weeks
£'000

(92,977)
(14,181)
-

29,695
(46,392)
8,500

170,542
63,384

(74,000)
(82,197)
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17 Employee benefits (continued)
The movement in the balance sheet over the period was:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Deficit at the start of the period
Other finance costs
Society contributions
Total remeasurements
Deficit at the end of the period

(92,183)
(5,281)
2,933
(63,384)
(157,915)

2016
52 weeks
£'000
(170,225)
(6,830)
2,675
82,197
(92,183)

The movement in the assets over the period was:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Opening fair value of scheme assets
Interest on assets
Society contributions
Benefits paid
Administrative costs
Return on assets less interest

595,678
23,810
2,933
(26,145)
(1,546)
92,977
687,707

2016
52 weeks
£'000
630,644
20,388
2,675
(27,098)
(1,236)
(29,695)
595,678

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the period was:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Opening obligation
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Experience gain on defined benefit obligation
Changes to demographic assumptions
Changes to financial assumptions
Closing obligation
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687,861
27,545
(26,145)
(14,181)
170,542
845,622

2016
52 weeks
£'000
800,869
25,982
(27,098)
(46,392)
8,500
(74,000)
687,861
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17 Employee benefits (continued)
The major categories of assets as a percentage of total assets are as follows:
2017
Bonds
Equities
Other

45%
18%
37%
100%

2016
41%
17%
42%
100%

The amounts does not include the Central Asset Reserve asset.
The actual return on the Scheme's assets over the period to the review date, net of investment
expenses but including the Central Asset Reserve, was £116,787,000 which corresponds to a 20%
return over the period.
The assets do not include any investment in shares of the Society.
The principal assumptions used to calculate the Scheme's liabilities include:

Discount rate - per annum
Inflation assumption (RPI) - per annum
Inflation assumption (CPI) - per annum
Revaluation in deferment - per annum
RPI max 5.0% pension increases in payment - per
annum
RPI max 2.5% pension increases in payment - per
annum
Members assumed to take maximum tax free cash

2017

2016

3.1%
3.6%
2.6%
3.6%/2.6%

4.0%
3.3%
2.3%
3.3%/2.3%

3.40%

3.15%

2.35%
90%

2.25%
90%

The mortality assumptions used are based on the "SAPS" standard “S2 series” tables with an
allowance for future mortality improvements using the CMI 2015 projections with a long-term rate
of improvement of 1.25% pa. The Central Asset Reserve asset value is assumed to be 69% of
Trustees' valuation as at 31 December 2016 (2016: 69% of Trustees' valuation as at 31 December
2015).
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17 Employee benefits (continued)
Under the adopted mortality tables, the future life expectancy at age 65 is as follows:

Male currently age 45
Female currently age 45
Male currently age 65
Female currently age 65

2017

2016

24.2
26.5
22.5
24.6

24.1
26.4
22.4
24.5

Defined Contribution Scheme
The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme. The contributions payable to the scheme
in respect of the accounting period are charged to the income statement.
The contributions payable to the defined contribution scheme in respect of the accounting period
are charged to the income statement, which amounted to £4,307,000 (2016: £4,509,000).

18 Share capital
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Contributions
Withdrawals

714
(418)
296
197
493

Interest
Movement in period
Opening balance
Closing balance

22,803
23,296
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2016
52 weeks
£'000
511
(459)
52
201
253
22,550
22,803
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18 Share capital
At 28 January 2017 the Group had a total of 1,766,654 (2016: 1,731,005) members each entitled
to one vote. At the reporting date the whole of the share capital comprises non-equity shares of £1
each attracting interest at rates between 0% and 2.25% (2016: between 0% and 2.25%).
Share capital is generally withdrawable on demand; however, in accordance with the Society rules,
the Board may suspend the right of withdrawal for a limited time and may impose a notice period
for withdrawals should they consider it to be in the best interests of the Society. The Society rules
for the distribution of the final surplus in the event of winding-up after repayment of the paid-up,
share capital state that such assets shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the
Society but shall be:
a. transferred to one or more other societies in membership of the Co-operatives UK Limited
having the same or similar rule provisions as regards surplus distribution as this rule, as may be
determined by the members at an ordinary or special meeting; or
b. if not so transferred shall be paid or transferred to the Co-operatives UK Limited.
Dividends to members are paid by way of e-dividend redeemable against purchases.
The Group operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) to benefit colleagues. Colleagues can invest a
proportion of their salary which may not exceed the lower of £1,800 or 10% of a colleague’s pay,
on which they earn a return of 2.25% in that period. Interest earned is recognised in the share
capital note. Shares withdrawn after a five year period are paid free of income tax and national
insurance.
The Society is allowed to allocate matching shares under rules governed by HMRC. As an
incentive to colleagues to join and remain in the SIP, the Society will match the first £10 paid in by
each colleague for the purchase of partnership shares in the first year of the scheme by awarding
£10 in matching shares. Each year colleagues who continue to contribute will receive a further £10
in matching shares for the first £10 of partnership shares acquired in later years. A year for the
purposes of matching shares will be the Society’s financial year.
As long as the matching shares are held for at least five years, they can be redeemed with the
Society free of income tax and national insurance contributions. If they are redeemed before this
date, income tax and national insurance contributions will normally be payable.
The issue of matching shares is discretionary. The Society therefore reserves the right to amend
or withdraw the issuing of matching shares at its discretion.
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19 Reserves
The Society's reserves are as follows:
The Revenue Reserve represents cumulative profits or losses net of dividends paid and other
adjustments.
The Non-distributable Reserve represents the cumulative effect of revaluations of investment
properties which are revalued to fair value at each reporting date.

20 Cash flow statement
2017
53 weeks
£'000

2016
52 weeks
£'000

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash
generated by operations:
Operating profit
Adjustment for:
Loss/(Gain) on investment properties
Profit on disposal
Depreciation and impairments
Amortisation and impairment of goodwill
Payments to and on behalf of stakeholders
Purchase of fixed asset investments
Fair value movements
Decrease/(Increase) in debtors
Increase in creditors
Decrease in stocks
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions
Other non-cash movements
Cash contribution for retirement benefit obligations
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11,259

19,835

945
(367)
21,993
3,337
(3,050)
(13,667)
(69)
1,751
15,154
4,261
158
(271)
(2,933)
38,501

(4,815)
(1,307)
20,111
2,633
(5,639)
(7,267)
(337)
(84)
11,865
1,971
(3,518)
210
(2,675)
30,983
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21 Financial commitments
Finance leases
The minimum finance lease payments to which the Society is committed in future years are:
2017
£'000
Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

2016
£'000
245
438
2
685

202
201
403

Obligations under finance leases are shown as part of borrowings in note 15.
Operating leases - receivable
The future minimum operating lease payments to the Group under non-cancellable leases are:

Land &
Building
2017
£'000
Operating leases expiring:
Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

Land &
Building
2016
£'000
2,142
5,414
48,776
56,332

2,064
6,299
45,371
53,734

Operating leases - payable
The minimum operating lease payments to which the Group is committed in future years are:
Land &
Building
2017
£'000
Operating leases expiring:
Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

773
1,620
47,491
49,884
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Land &
Building
2016
£'000
1,747
2,698
48,933
53,378

Other
2017
£'000
133
3,099
773
4,005

Other
2016
£'000
440
2,323
681
3,444
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21 Financial commitments (continued)
Included within the minimum operating lease payments are onerous lease and discontinued
operation commitments of £18,170,000 (2016: £20,427,000) which are fully provided for as
described in note 16.
The Society holds lease commitments on operating leases from the Society’s former leased travel
branches. As part of the disposal of the travel business, Thomas Cook Travel took occupation
under licence of the Society’s former leases from 4 October 2011 for outgoings and costs
associated with these properties. The lease commitments on these operating leases at 28 January
2017 are as follows:
2017
£'000
Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

151
151

2016
£'000
511
1,204
207
1,922

Capital commitments
Amounts contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements were £9.6 million (2016:
£8.7 million).

Page 99 of 104

CENTRAL ENGLAND CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE 53 WEEKS ENDED 28 JANUARY 2017

22 Subsidiaries and associates
% of Equity
owned
100
100
100
100
100

Entity
Central Midlands Estates Limited
Terry Smith Limited
M.C.S. Funeral Services Limited *
Shaws Petroleum Limited
Oakwell Stores Society Limited
Midlands Co-op Scottish Limited Partnership
Midlands Co-op General Partner Limited
Advantage Motor Group Limited
Leicester Carriage Builders 2002 Limited
Metro Discount Stores (Midlands) Limited
Ilkeston Travel Services Limited *
Ken Ives Motors (Derby) Limited *
Ilkeston Motor Finance Limited
Ilkeston Consumer Co-operative Society Pension
Trustees Limited
Anglia Co-operative Properties Limited
Midlands Co-operative Pension Trustee Limited
Central England Co-op Pension Trustee Limited
Westgate Optical Limited
Yaxley Farm Limited *
Central England Dersingham Limited *
James Retail Holdings Limited
* Held by subsidiary undertaking.

77
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Principal activity
Property Management
Coffin Manufacturer
Funeral Services
Non-Trading
Corporate Trustee
Investment in Corporate
Bonds
Partnership Administration
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Non-Trading
Property Management
Dormant
Dormant
Optical Retailing
Farming
Food Retailing
Non-Trading

All subsidiaries are registered within the United Kingdom. The registered address for the above
entities with the exception of Midlands Co-op Scottish Limited Partnership and Midlands Co-op
General Partner Limited is Central House, Hermes Road, Lichfield, Staffordshire WS13 6RH. The
registered address for Midlands Co-op Scottish Limited Partnership and Midlands Co-op General
Partner Limited is Citypoint, 65 Haymarket Terrace, Edinburgh EH12 5HD.
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22 Subsidiaries and associates (continued)
Subsidiary audit exemptions
Central England Co-operative Limited has issued guarantees over the liabilities of the following
companies at 28 January 2017 under section 479 of Companies Act 2006 and these entities are
exempt from the requirements of the Act relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of
section 479A of the Act.
Company Name
Terry Smith Limited
Midlands Co-op General Partner Limited
Advantage Motor Group Limited
Westgate Optical Limited
Yaxley Farm Limited
Central England Dersingham Limited
James Retail Holdings Limited

Company Number
02095147
SC410710
05800376
07526437
02553217
04827499
09613820

The Society currently holds preference shares within investments in the following entity:
Associated undertakings
Anglia Home Furnishing Limited

Principal
activity
Furniture retailing
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23 Business combinations
On 30 September 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of James Retail
Holdings Limited, a company whose primary activity is that of a holding company and Central
England Dersingham Limited, a subsidiary of James Retail Holdings Limited, whose primary
activity is a retail food supermarket. The fair value of the total consideration was cash of
£3,529,000.
The acquisition has been accounted for under the acquisition method. The following table sets out
the book value and fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:
Book value
£'000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets

1,021

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

66
1,458
53

Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year:
Creditors
Borrowings
Net assets

Fair value
adjustments
£'000

(300)
(651)
1,647

1,484
551

(59)
(94)
-

1,882

Total
£'000
1,484
1,572

7
1,364
53

(300)
(651)
3,529

For the period ended 28 January 2017, turnover of £657,000 and profit of £14,000 was included in
the consolidated income statement in respect of the business combination.
24 Related party transactions
Central England Co-operative Limited continues to hold a preference share interest in Anglia
Home Furnishings Limited and maintains certain trading relationships relating to its normal trading
activities which give rise to receivables of £235,000 (2016: £279,000) during the period. The net
amount due from Anglia Home Furnishings Limited in respect of these relationships at the
reporting date was £81,000 (2016: £21,000).
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25 Financial instruments
The carrying value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category
below:
2017
£'000
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss
Quoted investments
Unquoted investments
Funeral plans

2016
£'000

5,835
112,272

736
5,835
97,202

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Other societies loans
Trade debtors and other debtors

63
9,081

63
8,344

Equity instruments measured at cost less
impairment
Fixed asset investments

2,774

2,706

130,025

114,886

Total financial assets

2017
£'000
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Interest rate swap
Funeral plans

2016
£'000

122
114,208

37
98,770

403
29,000
47,810

685
22,000
44,560

191,543

166,052

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Finance lease payables
Bank loan
Trade creditors and other creditors
Total financial liabilities
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25 Financial instruments (continued)
The Group's income, expenses, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are
summarised below:
2017
53 weeks
£'000
Fair value losses
Interest expense

(69)
786

2016
52 weeks
£'000
(268)
1,050

The interest rate swap settles on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swap is
three months LIBOR. The Society settles the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate
on a net basis.
Interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest
amounts are designated as cash flow hedges to reduce the Society's cash flow exposure, resulting
from variable interest rates on borrowings. The hedge cash flows are expected to occur and to
affect the profit or loss over the period to maturity of the interest rate swap.
During the year, the fair value movement recognised in the income statement was a loss of
£69,000 (2016: loss of £268,000).
A charge of £786,000 (2016: £1,050,000) was recognised in the income statement in relation to
interest on financial instruments.
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